Otago Farmers Market:

An Empirical Analysis of Possible Pathways to Growth

Kate Preston

Supervisor: Nathan Berg

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Commerce with Honours in Economics

> Department of Economics University of Otago New Zealand

> > October 2015

Abstract

The Otago Farmers Market, held in Dunedin, New Zealand, is one of the key outlets in the region where consumers can purchase food grown in the local area directly from producers. This dissertation uses a survey of 137 Otago Farmers Market customers from 2015 to build a descriptive model of preferences for local food that is relevant to real-world markets and the policy parameters that affect it. We find the mean premium customers are willing to pay for Otago produce compared to non-Otago New Zealand produce ranges between at least 2.1% and eight percent. Using a range of empirical models, we analyse how customer demographics, food shopping behaviours, and attitudes toward the Otago Farmers Market affect their shopping behaviour at the market as well as their willingness to pay a premium for local production of food. We find older people and people with higher income are consistently more favourable of the Otago Farmers Market and local food across these models. Being from outside of Dunedin, having purchased ready-to-eat food or drinks, and considering time to be a barrier to spending more at the market are negatively associated with variables across these two sets of outcome variables. Interestingly, shopping at the Otago Farmers Market because the products are local is strongly positively associated with a willingness to pay for local production of food, but not with annual spend at the Otago Farmers Market.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I owe thanks to my supervisor Nathan Berg. Your guidance has both contributed immensely to this piece of work and enlightened me with new skills in academic research

My thanks go out to Murat Genç, for encouraging me to undergo the Honours course which has been most rewarding, and for your econometric tips used in this dissertation

To the remaining staff of the economics department at the University of Otago. I have learned a great deal from you and appreciate the level of enthusiasm you have for what you teach.

To the Honours and Masters students of 2015. I am grateful to have gone through this experience with such good company and many laughs along the way.

I must thank Ella Lawton of the Otago Polytechnic and Local Food Economy Project for allowing me to be involved in the collection of the data used in this project, without which it would not have been possible.

Thanks to Leigh, Kirstie, Amy and Matt. I could not have asked for better people to come home to and take a break from my world of economics with.

And a big thank you to Damian George, Angela and Albert Voschezang, and Lee and Jo Preston. Words cannot describe my gratitude to you for standing by me through the ups and downs of this year.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	3
2 Previous Literature	6
2.1 Characteristics of Local Food Shoppers	6
2.2 Consumer WTP a Premium for Local Production	9
2.3 Contribution of This Study	
3 Data	
3.1 Dependent Variables	
3.2 Independent Variables	
3.3 Summary Statistics	
3.4 Hypotheses	
3.5 Descriptive Analysis	
4 Empirical Method	
4.1 Annual Expenditure at OFM	
4.2 Proportion of Household Food Expenditure Spent at OFM	
4.3 Shopping Frequency at OFM	
4.4 WTP for Local Production	
4.5 Chow Test for Different Coefficients on Xi	
5 Results	
5.1 OFM Customer Shopping Behaviour Results	
5.2 Local Production Premium Results	
5.3 Robustness Tests	
6 Discussion	
7 Conclusion	51
References	
8 Appendices	56

1 Introduction

The number of farmers markets in New Zealand (NZ) increased from only one to more than 30 in the ten years from 1997 to 2007 (Cameron, 2005). One reason for the increasing number of farmers markets is concern among consumers about the social impacts of their purchases, such as for supporting their local economies. Guthrie, et al. (2006) also argue such development is driven by shifts in consumer attitudes from favouring convenience to quality. Reflecting this, Lawson et al. (2008) observe that vendors at farmers markets in NZ tend to be small businesses that compete against larger food sellers, mostly by taking advantage of their relative agility in meeting consumer tastes more quickly and effectively than large grocery stores.

Consumers' food preferences are far from static. Anticipating how consumers might respond to an expansion of the availability of local food, and building a descriptive model of preferences for local food that is relevant to real-world markets and the policy parameters that affect it, are among the primary motivations for this dissertation. The data used in this study is from a survey of 137 customers of the Otago Farmers Market (OFM) in Dunedin, NZ. OFM consists of a variety of food and plant stalls that come together to sell their wares on Saturday mornings. Vendors are required to be a to be the producer of their own products and to be from the surrounding region (Otago Farmers Market, 2015), making it one of the key places in Dunedin to buy locally produced foods direct from the producer. While there is always contextual specificity in studies of a single market, we believe there is at least some external validity allowing our findings to be of interest further afield.

Understandings gained in this study will be highly relevant to nearly all stakeholders in the food supply chain as they face changing consumer tastes. Farmers markets and other direct sales opportunities has been observed by local food advocates to be a lifeline for small agricultural producers, many of whom have been squeezed out of the grocery market (Cameron, 2007). Hence, an increased understanding of this niche market will be useful to such producers. Conventional food producers and retailers also have an opportunity to capitalise on increasing consumer value for local food by adapting appropriately.

In addition, increased knowledge of consumer interests within this topic will be useful to policy makers developing programmes to support local food systems (Low, et al., 2015) such as those of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (see United States Department of Agriculture, 2015). Interests for local food in the political realm of NZ have been seen in examples including The Ministry for Primary Industries grant from its 2014 Sustainable Farming Fund to the Otago

Local Food Economy Project. In an email to the authors, Lawton (September 23, 2015), a steering group member of the project, explained the aim of this project is to research potential economic opportunities of local food economies in Otago. It supports the ministry's objectives to 'deliver economic, environmental and social benefits to New Zealand' (Ministry for Primary Industries, 2015).

This dissertation focuses on two empirical questions. First, what influences individual customers' shopping behaviour measured in expenditures and shopping frequencies at OFM in the course of a year? Second, which among the potentially observable characteristics of shoppers measured in the survey data are most strongly associated with willingness to pay (WTP) a premium for domestically-produced food versus foreign-produced, and that for a local versus non-local domestic food (holding all other product attributes constant)? For both of these areas of research we consider the influences of demographic characteristics, food shopping behaviours and attitudes toward OFM.

Three dependent variables serve as primary measures of shopping behaviour at OFM: the individual's estimated annual spend on food at OFM¹; the proportion of the individual's household's total annual food spending spent at OFM; and a binary variable for whether the individual is a frequent (i.e. weekly or near-weekly) shopper versus occasional shopper at OFM. Annual spend is modelled using ordinary least squares (OLS), with some further tests of robustness and a two stage least squares (2SLS) approach to account for potential endogeneity of variables relating to items purchased at OFM. A fractional Probit model is used for the OFM proportion of the individual's food budget to account for this variable's boundedness (between zero and one). Lastly, the probability of shopping weekly is estimated using a Probit model reported using average marginal effects.

To investigate influences on the consumers' valuation of local production as an attribute to a food product, we report the empirical distributions of the premiums and some further modelling of the premium that (some) customers would hypothetically pay for a more 'local' product. When estimating the premium measure for WTP for a domestically produced food item compared to an imported item, a large concentration of individuals with zero WTP for the foreign product have to be accounted for using Tobit estimation. We then apply a Chow test of whether the variables that influence consumers' WTP for local food do so following a

¹ From here on in this dissertation, measures of spend at the OFM (in either a single visit or over the course of a year) will refer to spend *on food*. The survey measured both total spend and spend on food in a visit to the OFM. We find that 93.8% of the total spend was on food.

common conditional mean function (as opposed to distinct conditional mean functions) for consumers willing and unwilling to purchase equivalent imported food items.

The results identify both challenges and opportunities for those seeking to expand OFM and its surrounding local food economies. The data show both older people and those with higher household income tend to be more committed OFM shoppers and place a larger subjective valuation on the localness of food. The subset of OFM consumers whose primary reason for being there is to enjoy its café culture (e.g. purchasing ready-to-eat food and drinks) are, quite predictably, less loyal patrons of OFM and have lower WTP for local food per se. Interestingly, favouring OFM because its products are local did not translate into a significantly higher annual spend but did increase the probability of shopping most frequently (i.e. weekly) and increase the proportion of the food budget directed toward OFM. Among the strongest predictors of being a high-frequency shopper are perceptions of advantages of OFM vendors in the areas of 'good service' and quality products. Unsurprisingly, respondents who mentioned time (i.e. limited hours in which the market is open) or bad weather as barriers to shopping at OFM were significantly less likely to shop as frequently or spend as much over a year. Results of the Chow Test suggest the way covariates affect the price customers would pay for a NZ product is no different for those willing and unwilling to buy a foreign but otherwise equal product, though this result is sensitive to model specification.

The remainder of this paper is arranged as follows. Section 2 comprises a review of previous literature. Section 3 describes the data used in empirical analyses and provides descriptive statistics and unconditional bivariate distributions in survey responses of key interest. The empirical models used are explained in Section 4 and main results are reported subsequently in Section 5. Section 6 contains a discussion and, finally, Section 7 a conclusion.

2 Previous Literature

Our review of previous literature is divided into separate sections covering studies on local food shopping behaviour and consumer WTP premiums for local food. We consider research that has focused on direct sales at farmers markets specifically (as in our study) as well as other data sources relating more broadly to consumer behaviour regarding local food.

2.1 Characteristics of Local Food Shoppers

Several descriptive analyses compare the characteristics of shoppers at farmers markets or those interested in local food relative to other food shoppers. Earlier studies suggest shoppers at farmers markets are more likely to be older, female consumers, with college educations and high levels of income (Eastwood, Brooker & Gray, 1999; Kezis et al., 1998). More recent research finds that demographic characteristics have less influence than they once did regarding associations with local food preferences, suggesting demand for local food is likely spreading across a wider range of consumers. Brown (2003) finds no significant difference among demographic characteristics of southeast Missouri consumers who sought products labelled as locally produced. In a Californian study, Wolf, Spittler and Ahern (2005) report that farmers market shoppers are more likely to be female and have postgraduate educations while finding few differences by age and income status.

Behaviours and attitudes among farmers market shoppers are compared by Brown (2003), Eastwood, Brooker and Gray (1999) and Kezis et al (1998). These studies reveal that farmers market shoppers have preferences that are unusually sensitive to product quality. Other distinguishing characteristics of shoppers at farmers markets noted in these previous studies include: having a farming background or parents who were raised on a farm; placing substantial weight on differences in freshness; having an interest in supporting local farmers; and prefering the friendly atmosphere. Associations of local and organic food with environmentalism would appear to be less strong than theory would predict. Perhaps surprisingly, for example, Brown (2003) finds that being a member of an environmental group was not associated with local food consumption. Eastwood, Brooker and Gray report that travel costs are among the most common deterrants that block consumers who would otherwise want to shop for local food at farmers markets.

Moving to a NZ context, Mirosa and Lawson (2012) compare shopping behaviours, attitudes and personalities of NZ consumers who make a strong effort to buy food locally with those who are observed to make no such effort. Tests of differences in means indicate local food shoppers are more likely to prefer fresh, organic, unprocessed and non genetically-modifed foods; they are also more interested in cooking, health, and product information that includes nutrition labelling. Murphy (2011) shows that shoppers in NZ who visit farmers markets at least monthly on average rated the following variables as significantly more important than did less frequent shoppers at farmers markets: quality produce, healthy food, seasonal produce, supporting the local community, and customer service. High prices appear to be among the biggest deterrents facing consumers who would otherwise want to do more of their shopping at farmers markets, followed by unattractive appearance of local food, the costs of parking and the disadvantagess of bad weather (relative to indoor shopping at grocery stores). Comparing farmers market shoppers and supermarket shoppers, the quality of products is reported by both types as being important, but significantly more so to farmers market shoppers.

Of particular interest to this study is how the characteristics and preferences of consumers influence variation in shopping behaviour. Effects of demographic characteristics in this context is somewhat inconsistent but generally have weak effects. For example, Onianwa, Wheelock, and Mojica (2005) use a Logit model on a sample of consumers from Alabama to estimate the likelihood of shopping for food directly from producers. Having education above high school level is associated with an 8.5 percentage-point increase in the probability of buying directly from local producers (relative to a base rate of 79%), and household income is positively associated but only for families with children. Their study shows that no other characteristics have statistically or economically significant effects. Some studies report even weaker results (e.g. sociodemographic characteristics having no significant effects on local food shopping in Eastwood, Brooker and Gray, 1999, and Keeling-Bond, Thilmany and Bond, 2009).

Zepeda and Li (2006) argue that behaviours and attitudes are more capable of explaining differences in local food shopping behaviour than demographics. They use a Probit model for a sample from a national survey of US food consumers where the outcome variable is whether consumers shopped at farmers markets, farm stands, or Community Supported Agriculture at least once a month. Sociodemographic variables are largely insignificant. Buying organic food, shopping at specialty stores, and gardening are the behaviours in their data that are positively associated with shopping for local food. Behaviours relating to cooking and physical exercise show no signifiant effects although positive effects of 'enjoying cooking' has a large positive effect. 'Concerns about the cost of food' has the opposite effect. The authors argue that enjoying cooking could be linked to a preference for fresher food, which would explain its

positive effect on expected rates of shopping locally. Zepeda and Li (2006) report no significant effects for variables that theory would have predicted large effects for: nutrition and health, energy conservation, and ensuring that farmers receive sufficient prices are factors with no significant associations with the frequency of shopping for local food.

Some local food advocates point to the advantage of local food avoiding transport over long distances (i.e. lower 'food miles') resulting in lower environmental costs (e.g. Thompson, Harper, & Kraus, 2008). However, one UK study finds that many who report an interest in minimising food miles do not feel intensely about it, or have enough information, to change their shopping behaviour (Kemp, et al., 2010). Kemp et al (2010) report that 25.1% of supermarket shoppers surveyed in the UK said they would not buy NZ products because of their large number of food miles. Yet, when unprompted about food miles, only 5.6% of those same consumers report that country of origin was a reason for having selected a produce item, and only 19.1% can correctly identify where items they purchased originated from. This apparent gap between expressed intentions and actual shopping behaviour appears in numerous other areas of research (Young, DeSarbo, & Morwitz, 1998). This gap is likely related to similar gaps between expressed intentions and attitudes on the one hand and costly behaviour on the other as reported in the study by Zepeda and Li (2006) described above.

Westervelt and Hawkins (1979) propose a psychological model based on Maslow's hierachy of needs in which farmers market shoppers (as consumers in well-to-do developed nations) have already satisfied their physiological needs and are likely to have moved toward satisfying higher needs including self-actualisation. According to the authors, their model predicts that consumers would shop at the market primarily to interact with vendors and other consumers. However, their research involving a survey of farmers market shoppers in Alberta, Canada, finds that indivdiuals described as pursuing self-actualisation were no more likely to shop at farmers markets. Instead, freshness of the products appears, once again in Westervelt and Hawkins' data, to be they key attraction.

Using logistic regression on a binary measure of being a local food shopper in NZ, Mirosa and Lawson (2012) find older and more educated consumers are more likely to make a strong effort to buy local food. They show that local food buyers typically are less concerned about appearance and social standard, they value family and careers more highly, and they are more environmentally and socially conscious than non-local food buyers. Local food shoppers in Mirosa and Lawson's data, once again, consider quality and service to be among the most

important factors when shopping; these shoppers also appear to be more frugal and put more effort into shopping.

2.2 Consumer WTP a Premium for Local Production

An array of methods are used to model consumer WTP a premium for local production in the literature. Brown (2003) uses perhaps the simplest analysis, comparing those who would pay more for food labeled as grown locally to those who would not. Those willing are more likely to be females, higher income earners, residents of rural areas, buyers of organic food, members of environmental groups and have farming backgrounds. They are also slightly more likely to put the most value on quality when shopping for fruit and vegetables and less likely to value price the most.

Some studies have approached this research by estimating outcome variables in binary or ordinal categorical choices related to WTP a premium. A recent study of households in Al Ain City, United Arab Emirates, employs a Logit model for WTP a premium for locally produced poultry and eggs over imported products, conditional on individual sociodemographic characteristics (Fathelrahman, et al., 2015). The authors find the expected premium increases in household income and family size, and decreases in age, and females are less likely to be willing to pay a premium than males. An ordered Probit model of Hispanic consumers in east-coast U.S. is employed by Govindasamy and Puduri (2010), with outcome categories for willing, indifferent, or unwilling to buy locally grown produce that is usually imported (called 'ethnic' food). Eighty percent of the sample was willing to buy local food. Characteristics which increase the likelihood of being willing to buy local food include a willingness to buy organic, local, or new to the market produce; less concern for product packaging; a longer time living in the current location; having more children; and having higher incomes. Distance from an ethnic store, price, age, education and gender had no significant effects on willingness to buy local food.

Darby et al. (2007) ask direct food (including farmers market) and grocery store shoppers in Ohio to choose between several pairs of strawberries with different labeling of price, freshness, corporate affiliation and location of production. They estimate a random effects Probit model with the chosen product across two options as the outcome variable. Results show consumers at both shopping locations were willing to pay more for strawberries produced within the state or 'grown nearby' compared to food labelled as from the U.S. An estimated premium for local production of \$0.92 for direct food shoppers was higher than that of \$0.48 for grocery store shoppers, but in neither sub-sample did consumers value strawberries from Ohio or 'grown nearby' significantly differently. These premiums are estimated after controlling for product freshness and corporate affiliation (i.e. labelling the strawberries as produced by 'Fred's Berry Farm' versus 'Berries Inc.') which, Darby et al find, warrant their own premiums. This is a quite unique approach of the literature we have reviewed to separate components of local production which consumers value. No difference is found in the various premiums across demographic characteristics, except males at direct markets can be expected to pay more for local production than females.

We found only one study which estimates WTP for a food item using a continuous variable with location of production as a dependent variable. Gracia, de Magistris and Nayga (2012) use information from an experimental auction in Aragón, Spain, on consumer WTP a premium for locally produced lamb products in separate models for men and women. Using maximum likelihood they estimate WTP for the product conditional on whether it was labelled as local and individual characteristics. Males and women are both expected to pay a premium for local production, though this is higher for women.

2.3 Contribution of This Study

After searching Econlit, Google Scholar and other databases, it appears that this study can contribute to the relevant research literatures on shopping behaviour for local food and farmers markets in several ways. This study analyses dollar expenditure at a farmers market that, when combined with shopping frequency, provides a new imputed measure of annual expenditures at the farmers market over an entire year. We are unaware of any previous studies that use oneday expenditures and information about shopping frequency to construct an annual spend variable. This approach incorporates more information in the dependent variable and leads to more relevant analysis of which types of consumers are responsible for the greatest share of the farmers market's annual revenue. We also consider this annual spend measure relative to total food spending, which as far as we know, is novel in the context of the farmers market research literature. Another novel dependent variable that we consider is WTP for local food under several contrasting definitions and well-defined scenarios involving common products from specific countries and regions within NZ. An advantage of our analysis is that we use a continuous rather than a binary or ordinal outcome variable. We are not aware of any study in the extant literature which examines how such a rich set of consumer demographics, behaviours and attitudes are associated with a continuous outcome variable for WTP for local food production. We also compare the WTP a premium of domestic over imported products from two very different countries (China and the U.S.) to reveal whether this premium depends on the source country. Furthermore, we investigate whether consumers place additional value on Otago (i.e. the local region) over domestic production elsewhere in NZ.

3 Data

On the 28th of March, 2015, 114 OFM customers were interviewed onsite by 11 paid interviewers who were trained to follow a written script to structure and sequence survey items in a uniform manner.² In addition, cards were given out to OFM shoppers asking for online survey respondents (and advertised in OFM's March 2015 newsletter), which resulted in a further 23 online survey participants.

The dataset is cross-sectional and each observation corresponds to a unique respondent. We consider the onsite interviews to be representative of OFM customers on the day of the interview. Based on the interviewers' impressions we estimate the response rate of those invited to participate in the survey was one in three people. While this may sound low, given people are busy we did not expect a high participation rate. We made sure to have interviewers on site at all time periods, starting even before the official opening of the market, and they were scattered around the market to avoid selection bias. However, as there is no census of all shoppers to compare and cross-validate against, it is not possible to formally rule out selection bias.

The online survey is not representative owing to sample selection bias from being advertised in the newsletter, which is potentially likely to be distributed to people with a particular interest in OFM. It also phrased some questions slightly differently. For example, in the scripted interview we asked how much the individual had spent or planned to spend at the market, but in the online survey this was replaced with how much the individual *usually* spends at the market. For our main models we test for bias from this sub-sample.

3.1 Dependent Variables

The dependent variables summarised in Table 1 include several transformations and variations of the basic list of shopping behaviour outcomes that we are interested in: expenditures, shopping frequency, and WTP for more 'local' products. *Spend* measures (in units of NZ\$) the expenditure at OFM on the day of the interview (or 'usual spend' at OFM among online respondents). This spend in a single visit together with information about the frequencies with which shoppers attend OFM are used to estimate annual spend, based on assumptions about frequency and the representativeness of the respondents' expenditures on the day in which they

² Appendix 8.1 contains the survey script our interviewers used in training and during the interviews themselves.

Tuote 11 Deper	indent + underes Deminions und Desemptive Studiettes
Variable Name	Variable Definition
Spend	Dollar spend on food at OFM in single visit
AnnualSpend	Annual dollar spend at OFM
LnAnnualSpend	$\ln[(\text{Annual spend at OFM}) + 1]$
PropAnnualSpend	Proportion of yearly household food budget spent at OFM
Weekly	1 if shops weekly at OFM, 0 otherwise
DiscountChina	(WTPNZ-WTPChina ¹)/WTPNZ
DiscountUSA	(WTPNZ-WTPUSA ¹)/WTPNZ
DiscountNZnonlocal	(WTPOtago ² - WTPNZ) / (WTPOtago)
WTPNZ	Willingness to pay per kg for produce item if from NZ
LnWTPNZ	ln(WTPNZ)
1 Where WTDChing is 4	he willingness to new new log for sheepen and dues item if from

Table 1: Dependent Variables Definitions and Descriptive Statistics

1 - Where WTPChina is the willingness to pay per kg for chosen produce item if from China. 2 - Where WTPOtago is the willingness to pay per kg for chosen produce item if from Otago

were interviewed. Our survey item categorises shoppers as occasional, monthly, fortnightly and weekly shoppers. To estimate annual spend, we assume that: occasional shoppers visit OFM four times; monthly shoppers visit 10 times; fortnightly shoppers visit 24 times; and weekly shoppers visit 48 times per year (reflecting conservative assumptions about holidays, sick days, and unanticipated deviations from self-reported shopping frequency). *AnnualSpend* is computed by multiplying the assumed number of annual visits by *Spend*:

$$AnnualSpend = \begin{cases} 1 \times Spend & \text{if } Frequency = First time (N = 13) \\ 4 \times Spend & \text{if } Frequency = Occasionally (24) \\ 10 \times Spend & \text{if } Frequency = Monthly (13) \\ 24 \times Spend & \text{if } Frequency = Fortnightly (13) \\ 48 \times Spend & \text{if } Frequency = Weekly (66) \end{cases}$$

Figure 1 shows the highly skewed empirical distribution of *AnnualSpend* and the more evenly distributed empirical distribution of *LnAnnualSpend*, demonstrating that after applying the natural log transformation this expenditure variable's skew is attenuated, or somewhat reversed.

The variable *PropAnnualSpend* is computed as *AnnualSpend* divided by self-reported annual household food budget. The survey measure elicited from each respondent an estimated weekly household budget for food, including both unprepared and prepared (e.g. restaurant) food.³ We

³ We chose to measure the food budget at the household level rather than the individual level because households frequently pool resources such as food. Therefore, the conservative measurement approach suggests that we measure proportions of expenditures at OFM relative to an individual's household food expenditure rather than individual food expenditure. Interviewers were trained to explain our definition of household referred to those one shops with for food to ensure the measure has a consistent interpretation across individuals.



Figure 1: Distributions of AnnualSpend and LnAnnualSpend

multiplied responses to this survey item by 52 to approximate the household's annual food budget corresponding to each individual.

The shopping frequency variable, *Weekly*, is a binary indicator. We have more detailed information on shopping frequency as described earlier. However, because half the respondents are weekly shoppers and their expenditures make up the majority of OFM revenue, we argue that this coarsening of frequency into a binary state focuses the explanatory information on the most meaningful distinction.

WTPNZ measures responses to a survey item that elicited WTP for NZ grown produce.⁴ Respondents were first asked if they ever buy lemons. If yes, then they were asked the maximum they would pay per kilogram for lemons from NZ. If they did not buy lemons, the survey proceeded to ask if they would buy oranges, garlic, and then tomatoes, stopping whenever they had a food item that the respondent would purchase, to ask their WTP for the item, given it came from NZ. If a respondent said that he or she would not buy any of the items, then *WTPNZ* records a missing value. We argue it is appropriate to collect values for different products in a single variable because it will always be compared relative to the valuation for the same product category from a different location. Figure 2 shows the empirical distribution of *WTPNZ* and its log transformation (*LnWTPNZ*) which we use in empirical models because it is significantly less skewed. Only 69 observations were valid due to difficulty experienced by interviewers in asking and by customers in answering questions on WTP, as well as the presence of some customers in the sample who never buy any of the above food items.⁵

Respondents were asked their WTP for the same product if, instead of being from NZ, had come from China, the U.S., or Otago (with otherwise equal observable quality attributes). We use this information to estimate each individual's implied valuation for more 'local' production across various comparisons of production location. The variables *DiscountChina* and *DiscountUSA* measure percentage discounts in WTP for Chinese and U.S. produced goods (lemons, oranges, garlic, or tomatoes), respectively, compared to a NZ product. Similarly, the variable *DiscountNZnonlocal* measures the percent discount in an individual's WTP for NZ (which could be from anywhere in the country) versus Otago produced food products.

The relatively high frequency of zero values of WTP for foreign produced food motivates our convention of measuring discounts, so that percentage changes can be computed relative to a non-zero base valuation. WTP for Otago and NZ are strictly positive in all cases.

The distributions of these variables are illustrated in Figure 3. The distributions of *DiscountChina* and *DiscountUSA* each exhibit a cluster of observations at the upper tail, comprised of individuals who apply a 100% discount to foreign-grown produce (i.e. zero WTP for 'otherwise identical' products grown in China or the U.S.) In contrast, the bottom-most histogram in Figure 3 of discounts applied to non-Otago relative to Otago-grown produce has no observations of 100% discount rates but has a large cluster of zero discounts.

⁴ See survey question 33 in Appendix 8.1.

⁵ A binary indicator for whether *LnWTPNZ* is missing has a correlation greater than 10% with independent variables *LnHhIncome*, *Local*, and *Money* (defined below).

Figure 2: Distributions of WTPNZ and LnWTPNZ







Table 2 below shows mean local premiums computed as within-person differences in WTP in dollar units. In all cases, the mean premiums are positive and significantly different from zero at the one percent level. The mean respondent is willing to pay more than \$4.00 *more* for a kilo of NZ lemons (or oranges, tomatoes or garlic) than the same items grown in China or the U.S. The local premium for Otago versus non-Otago domestic produce is considerably smaller at \$0.53 but sill large enough to achieve economic significance at moderate sales volumes. However, we prefer to use the percentage discount approach described above to account for the fact that several different products are being considered.

USA; Otago v. non-Otago-NZ						
Difference	Mean ∆NZ\$	Std. Error	Std. Dev	<u>t</u>	Obs.	P-value
WTPNZ - WTPChina	4.68	0.78	6.18	5.96	62	0.0000
WTPNZ - WTPUSA	4.36	0.83	6.40	5.23	59	0.0000
WTPOtago - WTPNZ	0.53	0.20	1.58	2.71	64	0.0086

Table 2: Within-Person Differences in Willingness to Pay (WTP) for NZ v. China; NZ v.

Figure 4 shows the bivariate empirical distribution of WTP as scatterplots of the three pairs of places of origin about which WTP was elicited. The first two scatterplots in Figure 4 show the cluster of individuals with effectively lexicographic preferences by which *WTPChina* or *WTPUSA* is zero, which implies infinite relative WTP for the NZ product). Although economists' standard preference specifications typically rules out such incommensurability by assuming utility functions that always allow for internal rates of substitution at some positive and finite relative price, our data provide evidence of a distinct segment of OFM consumers with precisely incommensurable views—that foreign produce is worth nothing and remains undesirable no matter how cheaply priced. In contrast, the subsample scattered around a finite-sloped bivariate regression line, whose slope is greater than 1, tends to view the NZ place of origin as worth paying a premium for. This split in the sample suggests that the mean premiums reported above in Table 2 were the weighted averages of two groups, both of which are willing to pay a premium for NZ products but with sharply contrasting willingnesses to trade off preferred places of origin against price.

The final scatterplot in Figure 4 shows no lexicographic clustering along the y-axis, as all respondents have strictly positive WTP for non-Otago produce grown in NZ. The bivarate regression line has a slope of 1.036, which implies that consumers in our sample were willing to pay, on average, a 3.6% premium for local food, defined as having been produced in the Otago region. We consider several other measures of calculating the average premium. The

mean premium for Otago produce over NZ produce when computed as individual-level percentage-change premiums and then averaged over individuals is 7.6% (using the very same observations). The mean individual's premium is eight percent.⁶ We also computed an unconditional elasticity (of *WTPOtago* with respect to non-Otago *WTPNZ*) as the slope of a bivariate regression of ln(*WTPOtago*) on ln(*WTPNZ*) which is 0.021. In other words, for every unit of value a consumer derives from a NZ food item, he or she receives an extra 2.1% from an otherwise similar item if it was produced in the Otago region.

We will later use the discounts (i.e. *DiscountChina*, *DiscountUSA*, *DiscountNZnonlocal*) corresponding to the three pairings of places of origin and also *WTPNZ* as dependent variables to estimate fully conditional empirical models in the next section. We believe these two representations of the preference information are relevant for different reasons. Measures of discounts in WTP are in percentage units and bounded between -1 and 1, and we use them to investigate how individual characteristics are related to value for local production as an attribute of a food product. *WTPNZ* is in dollar units and is theoretically unbounded above and below. We use this variable to investigate whether there are differences in how the two subsamples of consumers identified earlier, those willing and those unwilling to buy foreign produce, evaluate a local food product.

⁶ Given mean WTPOtago = \$7.17 and mean WTPNZ = \$6.64; 7.17/6.64 - 1 = 0.08.

Figure 4: Bivariate Distributions of WTP for Further (China, U.S. and non-Otago-NZ) and WTP for Closer (NZ, NZ and Otago) Places of Origin in an Otherwise Identical Food Item (lemons, oranges, garlic or tomatoes)







Bivariate regression slope = 1.189 where WTPUSA > 0



Bivariate regression slope = 1.036

3.2 Independent Variables

	Table 3: Independent Variable Definitions
Variable	Variable Definition
Demographics	
Age	1 if aged 18 to 29, 2 if aged 30 to 49, 3 if aged 50 or older
Male	1 if male, 0 if female
University	1 if has graduated from university or has postgraduate qualifications, 0 otherwise
Hhincome	midpoint of household income categories which are (in thousands of dollars) '< 25', '25-50', '51-76-100', '100-125' and '> 150'
LnHhIncome	ln(Midpoint of dollar HhIncome category)
Adults	1 if one adult lives in household, 2 if two adults, 3 if three or more adults
Children	1 if children live in household, 0 otherwise
OutsideDunedin	1 if lives outside of Dunedin, 0 otherwise
Behaviours	
FreeRange	1 if shops at OFM for free range foods, 0 otherwise
Organic	1 if shops at OFM for organic foods, 0 otherwise
DrinksEating	1 if purchased drinks or food to eat outdoors
Attitudes	
Service	1 if friendly service or interaction with vendors is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Quality	1 if quality of products is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Fresh	1 if freshness of products is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Local	1 if local is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Atmosphere	1 if atmosphere is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Prices	1 if prices is a reason for shopping at OFM, 0 otherwise
Time	1 if time is main barrier to spending more at OFM, 0 otherwise
Weather	1 if weather is main barrier to spending more at OFM, 0 otherwise
Money	1 if money is main barrier to spending more at OFM, 0 otherwise
WTP	
WTPChina	Willingness to pay per kg for chosen produce item if from China
LnWTPChina	ln(WTPChina +1)
WTPUSA	Willingness to pay per kg for chosen produce item if from USA
LnWTPUSA	ln(WTPUSA+1)
China_Positive	1 if WTPChina > 0 , 0 if WTPChina $= 0$
USA_Positive	1 if WTPUSA > 0 , 0 if WTPUSA $= 0$
Variables for Rob	pustness checks

Interviewer	Categorical variable to control for which interviewer conducted the interview
Hour	Hour interviewed between 7am and 12pm (for onsite interviewees only)
Online	1 if surveyed online, 0 if interviewed onsite at OFM

Main empirical models reported in the results section are run with successive encompassing specifications that add the first three italicized variable groups identifiable in Table 3, which lists all independent variables.

All models include the demographic variables in the first grouping of the explanatory variables listed in Table 3 (grouped into *Demographics, Behaviours* and *Attitudes*). The construction of *LnHhIncome* requires some more explanation than what can be inferred from Table 3. Our survey instrument recorded household income as a categorical variable whose empirical distribution appears in Figure 5. However, because its empirical distribution is highly skewed, the log transformation was applied. We took the midpoint measure of each income category recorded except for the final category (\$150,000+) for which we used \$150,000, before logging to compute the variable *LnHhincome*. All other *Demographic* characteristics are coded as categorical variables.





Behaviours include indicators for whether the respondent states that he or she shops at OFM primarily for organic or free range foods, if they bought ready-to-eat food or drinks to consume at the market, or if they source local food other than from OFM.⁷ We interpret the latter as a coarse proxy for the importance placed on local food as reflected in behaviour.

⁷ We provided examples of sources of local food to respondents, which included food grown in one's own garden; local farm vendors; and food-boxes or co-operatives. Respondents were prompted to add any other local food sources they use.

Respondents were asked to name their top three reasons for shopping for food at OFM and the single top barrier preventing them from spending more at OFM, however some respondents listed more than the prompted number of reasons and barriers. All were coded as binary indicators which make up the *Attitudes* variables. Of particular note, *Service* incorporated responses showing preferences for the 'friendly' service of vendors, the possibility to 'interact' with them or to 'get to know' them. The variable *Local* envelopes both shopping at OFM because products are locally produced, and to support local farmers or businesses.

The *WTP* variable group is not added to all models. Log transformations of *WTPChina* and *WTPUSA* are included as independent variables in regressions of *LnWTPNZ* only (and each separately). *China_Positive* and *USA_Positive* are indicators relating to whether these variables are positive or zero, which are interacted with other conditional variables in the same models of *LnWTPNZ* to allow mapping to the different slopes across these groups.

Robustness tests which check for interviewer fixed effects and selection bias in online survey participants involve variables *Interviewer* and *Online*, respectively. *Hour* is also included in the interviewer fixed effects model to account for different times interviewers worked, given the hour at which the shopper was interviewed at OFM is clearly correlated with some of the other variables which, in turn, affect the dependent variables.

Table 4. Dependent Variable Descriptive Statistics						
Variable Name	<u>Obs</u>	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	
Spend	125	42.33	36.88	0.00	200.00	
AnnualSpend	125	1495	1911	0	9600	
LnAnnualSpend	125	6.17	1.94	0.00	9.17	
PropAnnualSpend	115	0.214	0.220	0.000	0.923	
Weekly	129	0.512	0.502	0.000	1.000	
DiscountChina	62	0.621	0.458	-0.500	1.000	
DiscountUSA	59	0.557	0.466	-0.500	1.000	
DiscountNZnonlocal	64	0.048	0.151	-0.500	0.333	
WTPNZ	69	6.84	5.93	1.00	42.00	
LnWTPNZ	69	1.69084	0.66	0.00	3.74	

3.3 Summary Statistics

Table 4 shows means, standard deviations and ranges of the dependent variables for the main empirical models, and additional ones reported in the appendix. *AnnualSpend* ranges from \$0 to \$9,600 with a mean of \$1,495, reflecting how skewed toward lower values its distribution is. The mean value of log transformations of *AnnualSpend* is more central than the original variable. The mean individual's proportion of the household food budget spent at the OFM was

21%, with variation from zero to 92% also suggesting a skewed distribution.⁸ Just over half (51%) of respondents said they shopped at the market weekly.

The number of observations are not consistent across all variables because some respondents did not answer all questions. In particular interviewers had difficulty asking and customers difficulty responding to survey items on WTP. Variables to relating to WTP are also missing if the individual placed no positive value on lemons, tomatoes or garlic from any location. Hence there is a rapid decline in observations for these variables.⁹

We suspect online respondents were highly selected from the upper tail of the most loyal and highest spending OFM customers, owing to the selection bias issue described earlier. Table 5 therefore presents descriptive statistics broken out by in-person versus online survey responses, confirming our expectations.

Table 5: Dependent Variable Descriptive Statistics by Survey Method							
	Onsite Interview				Online Survey		
Variable	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	
Spend	111	37.44	32.66	14	81.07	46.17	
AnnualSpend	111	1289	1726	14	3124	2533	
LnAnnualSpend	111	6.01	1.94	14	7.51	1.34	
Weekly	114	0.50	0.50	15	0.60	0.51	
PropAnnualSpend	102	0.201	0.217	13	0.319	0.224	
DiscountChina	54	0.579	0.467	8	0.906	0.265	
DiscountUSA	51	0.528	0.476	8	0.740	0.371	
DiscountNZ	56	0.054	0.157	8	0.000	0.089	
WTPNZ	60	6.90	6.28	9	6.44	2.83	
LnWTPNZ	60	1.68	0.69	9	1.79	0.40	

Table 6 summarises the independent variables from which conditional expectation functions are to be estimated. Some interesting points which we learn from the statistics in Table 6 include: '50+' is the largest age category (where '18 to 29' year olds are the omitted reference class); our sample is more female than male with 37% of respondents being male, which we believe is representative of the population of OFM shoppers; a large portion, more than half of respondents have a university degree or postgraduate qualifications (61%), shop at OFM to buy free range foods (60%), shop at OFM for organic foods (56%), and get local food from other sources than OFM (69%); and almost a third (31%) buy drinks or ready-to-eat food at the

⁸ While it might seem necessary then to apply a log transformation to *PropAnnualSpend*, this is not appropriate for the empirical model we use for this variable given it's boundedness between 0 and 1.

⁹ These explanations also apply to independent variables below, where numbers of observations also vary.

Variable	<u>Obs.</u>	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Age = 30 to 49	128	0.297	0.459	0	1
Age = 50 +	128	0.398	0.492	0	1
Male	126	0.373	0.486	0	1
University	128	0.609	0.490	0	1
Hhincome	122	60635	49073	12500	150000
LnHhIncome	122	10.64	0.91	9.43	11.92
Adults $= 2$	128	0.430	0.497	0	1
Adults = $3+$	128	0.227	0.420	0	1
Outside Dunedin	128	0.125	0.332	0	1
FreeRange	128	0.602	0.492	0	1
Organic	128	0.563	0.498	0	1
DrinksEating	128	0.313	0.465	0	1
OtherLocal	127	0.685	0.466	0	1
Service	122	0.180	0.386	0	1
Quality	122	0.287	0.454	0	1
Fresh	122	0.516	0.502	0	1
Local	122	0.361	0.482	0	1
SupportLocal	122	0.262	0.442	0	1
Atmosphere	122	0.336	0.474	0	1
Prices	122	0.164	0.372	0	1
Time	117	0.171	0.378	0	1
Weather	117	0.308	0.464	0	1
Money	117	0.103	0.305	0	1
WTPChina	68	1.87	2.87	0.00	12.00
LnWTPChina	68	0.67	0.84	0.00	2.56
WTPUSA	65	2.48	3.22	0.00	12.00
LnWTPUSA	65	0.84	0.91	0.00	2.56
China_Positive	68	0.426	0.498	0	1
USA_Positive	65	0.492	0.504	0	1
Hour	101	9.60	1.44	7	12
Online	137	0.168	0.375	0	1

Table 6: Independent Variable Descriptive Statistics

market.¹⁰ The most popular reason for buying food at the market is freshness, which was mentioned by 52% of respondents. *Weather* is the most common barrier to spending more at the market, mentioned by 31%. The mean *WTPChina* is considerably lower than mean *WTPUSA*, and just less than half of respondents placed positive value on the foreign items.

¹⁰ For online respondents, we consider someone as having drinks and prepared food if they report they 'would normally do so' when shopping at OFM.

Table 7 compares means across in-person and online sample respondents, which reveal large differences in independent variables across survey method.

	openaena	Onsite Int	erview		Online St	urvey
Variable	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.
Age = 30 to 49	113	0.292	0.457	15	0.333	0.488
Age = 50+	113	0.363	0.483	15	0.667	0.488
Male	111	0.387	0.489	15	0.267	0.458
University	113	0.593	0.493	15	0.733	0.458
Hhincome	107	57266	48111	15	84667	50814
LogHhincome	107	10.57	0.91	15	11.11	0.78
Adults $= 2$	113	0.398	0.492	15	0.667	0.488
Adults = $3+$	113	0.248	0.434	15	0.067	0.258
OutsideDunedin	113	0.124	0.331	15	0.133	0.352
FreeRange	114	0.570	0.497	14	0.857	0.363
Organic	114	0.526	0.502	14	0.857	0.363
DrinksEating	113	0.310	0.464	15	0.333	0.488
OtherLocal	113	0.646	0.480	14	1.000	0.000
Service	110	0.164	0.372	12	0.333	0.492
Quality	110	0.273	0.447	12	0.417	0.515
Fresh	110	0.545	0.500	12	0.250	0.452
Local	110	0.364	0.483	12	0.333	0.492
SupportLocal	110	0.255	0.438	12	0.333	0.492
Atmosphere	110	0.327	0.471	12	0.417	0.515
Prices	110	0.182	0.387	12	0.000	0.000
Time	105	0.152	0.361	12	0.333	0.492
Weather	105	0.314	0.466	12	0.250	0.452
Money	105	0.114	0.320	12	0.000	0.000
WTPChina	60	2.07	2.98	8	0.38	1.06
LnWTPChina	60	0.73	0.86	8	0.17	0.49
WTPUSA	57	2.65	3.34	8	1.25	1.91
LnWTPUSA	57	0.88	0.93	8	0.53	0.76
China_Positive	60	0.467	0.503	8	0.125	0.354
USA_Positive	57	0.509	0.504	8	0.375	0.518

Table 7: Independent Variable Descriptive Statistics by Survey Method

3.4 Hypotheses

Table 8 demonstrates the expected signs of the marginal effect of each of the independent variables on the expected value of our main empirical model of expenditure at OFM, as motivated by theory and previous research. A number of interesting effects are, we believe, theoretically indeterminate or have been found to go in both directions in different examples

of previous literature, indicated by '?' in Table 8.¹¹ While we provide expectations for estimated direction of effects of demographic characteristics, insignificance of many of these variables would not be surprising given this has been the case in much of the more recent literature (e.g. Zepeda & Li, 2006).

Variables on Expected Expenditure					
Variables	Expected Effect				
Age = 30 to 49	+				
Age = $50+$	+				
Male	?				
University	+				
LnHhIncome	+				
Adults $= 2$	+				
Adults = $3+$	+				
OutsideDunedin	-				
FreeRange	+				
Organic	+				
DrinksEating	-				
LocalOther	+				
Service	+				
Quality	+				
Fresh	+				
Local	+				
SupportLocal	+				
Atmosphere	?				
Prices	-				
Time	-				
Weather	-				
Money	-				

Table 8: Expected Signs of Marginal Effects of Independent Variables on Expected Expenditure

3.5 Descriptive Analysis

To motivate subsequent empirical models we provide further descriptive analysis of several bivariate patterns. Figure 6 shows a scatterplot of household income and *AnnualSpend*. The bivariate distribution shows large statistical variation with good numbers of observations on both sides of the mean *AnnualSpend* of \$1289 within every category of household income

¹¹ We are unable to predict the direction of the effect of gender or of a preference for atmosphere, which could increase spend due to additional enjoyment of the OFM but decrease spend if it is associated with people visiting for occasional social outings rather than regular grocery shopping.

including the lowest. The bivariate regression line which would fit through the joint distribution in Figure 6 is weakly positive with mostly unexplained variance.



Figure 6: Bivariate Distribution of AnnualSpend and HhIncome

Figures 7a and 7b show six scatterplots of household income and *AnnualSpend* broken out by eight different binary survey items, with goal of visually demonstrating behaviours common to individuals in the far upper tail of the *AnnualSpend* distribution. These highest spenders all shop as frequently as possible (weekly) at OFM. Free range and organic shoppers and those who prefer local food from other sources also seem to cover the upper tail. In contrast, those who go to OFM for prepared food and drink and those for whom prices are a barrier to spending more are, consistent with intuition, negatively correlated with *AnnualSpend*. The final scatterplot at the bottom of Figure 7b highlights those who are concurringly *Weekly*, *Organic*, *FreeRange* and *OtherLocal* shoppers and do not favour *DrinksEating* or low *Prices*. This does a reasonably good job of identifying higher spending individuals in the distribution of *AnnualSpend*.

Table 9 presents the joint empirical distribution of *Weekly* and *DrinksEating* which shows evidence of the difference in products more frequent shoppers seek: 18% of weekly shoppers bought drinks or food to eat at the market compared with 45% of non-weekly shoppers. Differences in the empirical distributions of *Spend* on the day of the survey spend over a year (i.e. *AnnualSpend*) are observable among non-weekly versus weekly shoppers in Figure 8.



Figure 7a: Bivariate Distribution of AnnualSpend and HhIncome with Behavioural Indicators



Figure 7b: Bivariate Distribution of AnnualSpend and HhIncome with Behavioural Indicators

Table 9: Cross Tabulation of Weekly							
	and Drin	ksEating					
Weekly	eekly DrinksEating						
	<u>No</u>	Yes	<u>Total</u>				
No	34 54.84%	28 45.16%	62 100%				
Yes	54 81.82%	12 18.18%	66 100%				
Total	88	40	128				

Figure 8: Distribution of Non-Weekly Versus Weekly Shoppers' Spend and AnnualSpend





4 Empirical Method

We estimate our main empirical models by successively adding groups of variables, each one encompassing previous models, starting with the most basic model that includes only Demographics (referred to as Model 1 in the tables below); then adding variables measuring shopping behaviours, referred to as the Behaviours variables (Model 2); and finally, the Attitudes variables (Model 3). We report a number of alternative model specifications as robustness checks, most of which are relegated to the appendices. For example, we re-run Models 1-3 of our main dependent variable checking for interviewer effects and possible timeof-day effects following the same design but including Interviewer indicators and time-of-day variable Hour for reasons explained in section 3.2. For parsimony's sake given the relative small number of observations (and because we find no important differences when including them), we choose to not include interviewer fixed effects in the main models. While we note that hours by itself is predictive of spend, we do not want to attribute variance separately to the hours decision relative to other explanatory variables, as the goal of the study is to see how demographics, attitudes and observable regularities of shopping behaviour predict shopping behaviour e.g. if early shoppers come for organics that may sell out, then the organic dummy should tell us that rather than hours. It is worth noting that including Hour causes all information on online survey respondents to drop from regressions since this information could not be recorded for them.

Let X denote a vector that stacks each of the three groups of covariates mentioned above excluding a constant. The coefficients multiplying each element of X in the equations presented below are represented by the vector of parameters β that determine the conditional expectation functions we are attempting to estimate. The error term ε_i denotes a zero-mean symmetrically distributed random variable representing unobserved heterogeneity. For notational simplicity, we express the encompassing empirical models described above using an abuse of notation that re-uses Greek symbols that should in fact be distinct theoretical objects. We then further abuse notation by re-using Greek symbols in different model specifications with different dependent variables, different conditional mean specifications, and different assumptions about the distribution of the error, which we aim to make clear with the discussion of model specifications below.

All estimations presented in this dissertation are performed using STATA version 13.0.
4.1 Annual Expenditure at OFM

The first dependent variable we consider is *AnnualSpend*, which is estimated in log-form because of the skewness of its distribution seen earlier in Figure 1. The equation we estimate using OLS is:

$LnAnnualSpend_i = \beta_0 + \beta X_i + \varepsilon_i$.

An endogeneity issue arises for the behavioural variables *Organic*, *FreeRange* and *DrinksOutdoor*, because these purchasing behaviours incur different expenditures, which is the dependent variable. To correct this endogeneity issue by which some right-hand-side variables are likely correlated with the error term, we present a two-stage least squares estimation instrumenting the endogenous variables with *Hour* and *Interviewer* fixed effects, based on the intuition that the spatial distribution of interviewers (e.g. randomly selected locations but with little within-interviewer variation, with some standing closer to organic providers and others farther away) provides information correlated with interest in particular product attributes but uncorrelated with spend. Assuming *Hour* and *Interviewer* fixed effects are correlated with the endogenous variables and unrelated to the error term ε_i , these variables should be suitable instrumental variables.¹² The following three equations for the endogenous variables are estimated by OLS:

$$\begin{aligned} Organic_{i} &= \alpha_{0} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}\boldsymbol{X}_{i} + \alpha_{2}Hour_{ij} + \alpha_{3}Interviewer_{i} + u_{i}, \\ FreeRange_{i} &= \pi_{0} + \boldsymbol{\pi}_{1}\boldsymbol{X}_{i} + \pi_{2}Hour_{ij} + \pi_{3}Interviewer_{i} + v_{i}, \\ DrinksEating_{i} &= \rho_{0} + \boldsymbol{\rho}_{1}\boldsymbol{X}_{i} + \rho_{2}Hour_{ij} + \rho_{3}Interviewer_{i} + w_{i}, \end{aligned}$$

where u_i , v_i and w_i are random error terms in the respective first-stage equations. The second stage is then estimated by OLS using predicted values from these three equations. Formally,

$$LnAnnualSpend_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}Organic_{i} + \beta_{2}FreeRange_{i} + \beta_{3}DrinksEating_{i} + \beta_{4K}X_{4Ki} + \varepsilon_{i},$$

where β_{4K} and X_{4Ki} represent coefficients and regressors *other* than the three endogenous variables now notated explicitly in the equation above, and the overbar notation represents predicted values of regressors based on the first stage regressions.

¹² We assume there is information correlated between the instruments and the endogenous variables, though empirical correlations between *Organic* and the instruments are unfortunately weak.

4.2 Proportion of Household Food Expenditure Spent at OFM

The estimation of *PropAnnualSpend_i*, must account for the boundedness of the variable between zero and one:

$$0 \leq PropAnnualSpend_i \leq 1.$$

Of course OLS and general linear models may generate expected values outside the logically permissible range (Baum, 2008). Thus, our estimation follows the method by Parke and Wooldridge (1996) for regressions of fractional dependent variables estimated in STATA using the 'glm' command. To guarantee that all predicted values of *PropAnnualSpend* take on values strictly inside the unit interval (0,1), we assume, for all *i*, that:

$$E(PropAnnualSpend_i | \mathbf{X}_i) = \Phi(\boldsymbol{\beta} \mathbf{X}_i),$$

where $\Phi(.)$ represents the standard normal cumulative probability density function (cdf) and β is a parameter vector conformable with X_i . Heteroskedasticity is likely to be present in the specification above since the variance of *PropAnnualSpend* given X_i is unlikely to be constant when $0 \leq PropAnnualSpend_i \leq 1$. Our estimation therefore uses robust standard errors. We report average marginal effects, which is the average of the marginal effect for each observation.

4.3 Shopping Frequency at OFM

Given the dichotomous nature of the variable *Weekly*, a probit model is estimated using maximum likelihood to measure marginal effects of consumer characteristics on the probability of shopping every week at OFM. Following Wooldridge (2000), the probit model is set up as follows.

Suppose an underlying latent variable y^* gives the true but unobservable value to the individual of his or her net benefit from shopping weekly at OFM for individual *i* where

$$y_i^* = \beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta} \boldsymbol{X}_i + \varepsilon_i \, .$$

We can only observe the binary choice *Weekly* made by each individual, which is equal to one if the individual shops at OFM every week or zero otherwise,

$$Weekly_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y_i^* > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } y_i^* \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Assuming ε_i is normally distributed, the probability that y_i^* will be positive such that $Weekly_i = 1$ can be defined as:

$$P(Weekly_i = 1|\mathbf{X}_i) = P(y_i^* > 0|\mathbf{X}_i) = P[\varepsilon_i > -(\beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{X}_i)|\mathbf{X}_i]$$
$$= 1 - \Phi[-P[\varepsilon_i > -(\beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{X}_i)]$$
$$= \Phi(\beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{X}_i).$$

The marginal effect of a continuous independent variable x_j (from the vector **X**) is derived from the partial derivative

$$\frac{\delta P(Weekly=1|X)}{\delta x_j} = \phi(\beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta} X)\beta_j,$$

where $\phi(.)$ is the derivative of the normal cdf $\Phi(.)$ (i.e. $\phi(.)$ is the standard normal pdf). If x_1 is a binary independent variable, the partial effect of changing from zero to one is

$$\Phi(\beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k) - \Phi(\beta_0 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k),$$

where there are k independent variables included in the model. We report average marginal effects, which is the average of the marginal effect for each observation. Because the probit model is nonlinear, it is estimated using maximum likelihood estimation (MLE).

4.4 WTP for Local Production

We estimate the variables *DiscountChina* and *DiscountUSA*, which are the percentage discounts in an individual's WTP for a Chinese and US product, respectively, compared to a NZ grown (but otherwise identical) product, conditional on consumer characteristics. For these variables a Tobit model is necessary because of the clusters of observations at one, corresponding to consumers reporting a maximum discount (i.e. precisely zero WTP for the food product if it is from China or the U.S. but strictly positive WTP for the otherwise identical one produced in NZ). Following Wooldridge (2000), we estimate a Tobit model as follows. First we define a latent variable z_i^* which can be modelled in the classical linear form:

$$z_i^* = \beta_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta} \boldsymbol{X}_i + \varepsilon_i,$$

$$DiscountChina_i = \min\{(\beta X_i + \varepsilon_i), 1\}$$

These definitions imply that the discount is equal to the latent variable z_i^* when $z_i^* < 1$ but is assigned a value of one otherwise.

We report the average marginal effects of x_j (an individual covariate within the vector X) which is the derivative of $E(Discount_i | X)$, with respect to x_i . Wooldridge (2000) shows this is derived as:

$$\frac{\partial E(DiscountChina_i | \mathbf{X})}{\partial x_j} = \beta_j \Phi(\boldsymbol{\beta} \mathbf{X} / \sigma).$$

We take the same steps to estimate a similar model replacing *DiscountChina* with *DiscountUSA*.

To estimate *DiscountNZnonlocal* we are able to use a simple OLS linear regression as there is no clustering in its distribution:

DiscountNZnonlocal_i =
$$\beta_0 + \beta X_i + \varepsilon_i$$
.

4.5 Chow Test for Different Coefficients on X_i

Out of interest for the divide in consumers who place a positive value on foreign products and those who do not, we test whether the conditional means of *WTPNZ* for consumers with *WTPChina*>0 is the same or different from the conditional mean of *WTPNZ* for consumers with *WTPChina*=0. We estimate the following OLS regression which effectively pools separate regressions for the two groups into a single estimation:

$$LnWTPNZ_{i} = \beta_{0} + \gamma China_{i}Positive_{i} + \tau LnWTPChina_{i} + \beta X_{i} + \delta (China_{i}Positive_{i} \times X_{i}) + \varepsilon_{i},$$

where \Box is a parameter vector (the same size as β) of coefficients on interaction terms. We use this encompassing specification to test whether interaction terms are jointly zero using a simple F-test. The null hypothesis in this case is:

$$H_0: \boldsymbol{\delta} = 0.$$

The alternative hypothesis is then:

 H_1 : At least one of the coefficients in $\delta \neq 0$.

A rejection of the null hypothesis would suggest the two groups exhibit different coefficients (i.e. slopes) on each variable when regressed separately.

We run this same test for *LnWTPNZ* replacing *WTPChina* with *WTPUSA* and the dummy variable *China_Positive* with *USA_Positive* for comparison. We also employ a Chow Test of

the same form to the model of *LnAnnualSpend* described in section 4.1 to check for differences in coefficients for on-site and online respondents. For this second Chow Test, we simply replace *WTPNZ* with *LnAnnualSpend* and *China_Positive* with Online in the above equation.

5 Results

Results are presented in three sections: customer shopping behaviour at OFM, WTP for local production, and robustness tests. We are interested in how inclusion of each group of variables affects the coefficient estimates, but primarily interested in the fully conditional models corresponding to final specification.

5.1 OFM Customer Shopping Behaviour Results

Table 9 shows the results of the OLS estimates of three empirical models of *LnAnnualSpend*. When only demographic variables are included on the right-hand side as in Model 1 in Table 9, age has one of the more noticeable effects: over-50 status is associated with an increase in expected annual spend that is 303% greater (e^{1.394}-1=3.03) than for an 18-to-29-year-old whose other characteristics are the same. This result is highly significant both in statistical and economic terms although its magnitude declines in Model 2 and is not significantly different from zero in Model 3. This instigates an interesting challenge for marketers of local food as to how best to use information about demographics combined with more detailed information about preferences. While it appears older people tend to do more shopping at OFM than younger people do, this pattern is largely explained by information about consumer preferences and the constraints they face (c.f. Szmigin, Maddock and Carrigan's 2003 paper arguing that 'sense of community' at farmers markets may be particularly appealing to older consumers).

The coefficient on *LnHhincome* provides an income elasticity measure, which is positive and significant at the one percent level across all columns. The third model predicts that a one percent increase in household income is associated with a 0.78% increase in annual spend. The magnitude of the income elasticity of OFM annual spend being less than unity is consistent with the idea that food is a necessity, as noted in Engel's law that households spend a smaller portion of their income on food as income increases (Calhoun, 2002). This contradicts views in the community that foods from OFM are 'luxury' items. There is no significant effect of the number of adults or presence of children in the household, which suggests having more people to feed is not a key driver of expenditure at OFM, nor does being busy with children on Saturday mornings significantly constrain it. Also seen in Table 9, living outside of Dunedin has a large, negative effect on expected annual spend in all models, just as one would expect since people living farther away are, all else equal, less likely to visit OFM as frequently.

Expressing a preference for *FreeRange* food is expected to increase annual spend in Model 2 by 139% ($e^{0.872}$ -1 = 1.392) but appears to be explained away with the addition of attitudinal

Table 9: OLS Estimates of Th	ee Emprical Moc	iels of LhAnni	laispend
<u>Variables</u>	(1) Demographics	(2) + Behaviours	(3) + Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	0.535	0.658	0.0911
	(0.457)	(0.412)	(0.441)
Age = $50+$	1.394***	1.212***	0.181
	(0.427)	(0.388)	(0.427)
Male	-0.262	-0.244	-0.112
	(0.314)	(0.286)	(0.302)
University	0.113	-0.173	0.156
T TH T	(0.355)	(0.317)	(0.343)
LnHnincome	(0.718^{****})	(0.108)	(0.224)
$\Delta dults - 2$	(0.220)	0.198)	0.101
Adults – 2	(0.370)	(0.200)	(0.348)
$\Delta dults - 3 +$	0.225	(0.324) 0.407	0.597
	(0.418)	(0.369)	(0.379)
Children	-0.286	-0.361	-0.453
	(0.455)	(0.407)	(0.417)
OutsideDunedin	-1.860***	-1.814***	-1.975***
	(0.487)	(0.427)	(0.495)
FreeRange		0.872***	0.427
-		(0.293)	(0.321)
Organic		0.197	0.446
		(0.303)	(0.327)
DrinksEating		-0.330	-0.866***
		(0.295)	(0.325)
LocalOther		0.334	0.242
		(0.319)	(0.336)
Service			0.701*
			(0.371)
Quality			0.359
Erech			(0.329)
Flesh			(0.308)
Local			0.185
Local			(0.333)
Atmosphere			-0.0621
F F			(0.348)
Prices			-0.687*
			(0.409)
Time			-1.019**
			(0.390)
Weather			-0.551*
			(0.317)
Money			-0.190
			(0.539)
Constant	-1.933	-1.251	-2.276
	(2.138)	(1.942)	(2.159)
Interviewer Fixed Effects	no	no	no
p-value for full of Demographic variables	0.0000***	0.0000***	0.0003***
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0.0059***	0.0041***
jointly zero P-value for null of Attitudes variables		5.0007	
jointly zero			0.0366**
Observations	113	111	96
R-squared	0.381	0.512	0.605
Adjusted R-squared	0.3268	0.4465	0.4853

Table 9: OLS Estimates of Three Emprical Models of LnAnnualSpend

Standard errors appear in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

controls. A preference for *Organic* food is not shown in any model in Table 9 to significantly affect *AnnualSpend*. However, in column (3), the drinks and food variable is associated with 39

expected annual spend that is 58% less than for those who visit without staying onsite to eat and drink ($e^{-0.866}$ -1= -0.579). Appendix 2 provides further results using the same model specifications but for the dependent variable *Spend* (on the day of the survey rather than imputed *AnnualSpend*). The results in the Appendix and subsequently reported marginal effects in a Probit model of *Weekly* suggest that *DrinksEating* is a predictor of fewer shopping days per year as well as a negative impact on expected spend on a given shopping trip (expected *Spend* is \$16 lower if one buys pre-prepared food or drink, all else equal, in which case one is also 20% less likely to shop every week at OFM, all else equal).

Choosing to shop at OFM because of the 'good' *Service* from vendors (and ability to interact with producers) is associated with around a double in *AnnualSpend* ($e^{0.701}$ -1=1.016 or a 102% increase). People who enjoy the *Service* at the market may particularly look for a relationship with the seller or producer which supermarkets tend not to provide. This would confirm some consumers may be seeking self-actualisation which Westervelt and Hawkins were not able to find in 1979. Shopping frequency is the more important channel through which perceived advantages of OFM vendors' superior service affects *AnnualSpend*. This is shown in that *Service* is significantly positive in regressions of *Weekly* (see marginal effects reported below) though not with Spend (see Appendix 2). Preference for OFM prices, and mentioning *Time* and *Weather* as barriers to spending more at OFM are all negatively associated with *AnnualSpend*, as per intuition. *Time* has a particularly large effect, reducing expected *AnnualSpend* by 64% ($e^{-1.019} - 1 = -0.639$).

Turning now to the joint tests whose associated p-values are reported at the bottom of Table 9, we see the sets of demographic, behavioural and attitude variables are all jointly significant across all models in which they are included at least at the five percent level. Goodness of fit is fairly high across all models but especially in the third model with R-squared values of 57% of variance explained. While this could be high due to the large number of variables included, adjusted R-squared is also considerably high with 44% of variance explained in Model 3.

We continue investigating characteristics associated with *AnnualSpend* by shifting focus to a fractional Probit model of *PropAnnualSpend* and its average marginal effects as presented in Table 10, which are relevant to a base rate of 21%. Consistent with the *LnAnnualSpend* models in the previous table, noteworthy marginal effects in Table 10 include the positive effect of

Models of	PropAnnualSpe	nd	
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attidues
A 20 / 10	0.0502	0.0407	0.0105
Age = 30 to 49	0.0502	0.0407	-0.0185
	(0.0489)	(0.0522)	(0.0613)
Age = $50+$	0.134**	0.107*	-0.0194
	(0.0537)	(0.0555)	(0.0599)
Male	-0.0223	-0.0257	-0.000680
	(0.0410)	(0.0398)	(0.0452)
University	0.0337	0.0201	0.0401
	(0.0437)	(0.0419)	(0.0523)
LnHhIncome	0.0251	0.00929	0.0390
	(0.0261)	(0.0271)	(0.0312)
Adults = 2	0.00514	0.00686	0.0196
	(0.0483)	(0.0459)	(0.0492)
Adults = $3+$	-0.0308	-0.0147	0.00573
	(0.0508)	(0.0518)	(0.0516)
Children	-0.0655	-0.0477	-0.0992**
	(0.0490)	(0.0460)	(0.0434)
OutsideDunedin	-0.166***	-0.156***	-0.198***
	(0.0334)	(0.0352)	(0.0279)
FreeRange		0.0444	-0.0196
		(0.0414)	(0.0493)
Organic		-0.00875	0.0405
		(0.0401)	(0.0459)
DrinksEating		-0.0875**	-0.146***
C C		(0.0386)	(0.0339)
LocalOther		0.0807*	0.0667
		(0.0463)	(0.0453)
Service		. ,	0.128**
			(0.0647)
Ouality			0.0287
			(0.0480)
Fresh			0.0336
			(0.0438)
Local			0.106***
2000			(0.0395)
Atmosphere			0.0501
<i>i</i> misspirete			(0.0301)
Prices			-0.00707
11805			(0.0554)
Time			-0 129***
Thic			(0.0433)
Weather			-0.0687
Weather			(0.0495)
Monay			0.0495)
Money			-0.0490
Interviewer Fived Effects	no	no	(0.0/19) no
P-value for null of Demographic variables		10	
jointly zero	0.0000***	0.0022***	0.0000***
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0.0246**	0.0003***
Jointly zero P-value for null of Attitudes variables			
jointly zero			0.0001***
Observations	106	104	90

Table 10: Fractional Probit Average Marginal Effects of Three Empirical Models of PropAnnualSpend

Standard errors appear in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Robust standard errors are used

over-50 status in Model 1 (with disappearing significance as more conditioning information is included. A preference for *Service* again has a significantly positive effect, and, as in the previous model, being from outside Dunedin or purchasing ready-to-eat food or drinks have significantly negative effects (e.g. in Model 3 in Table 10, *DrinksEating* reduces the expected proportion of spend at OFM by 15 percentage points which is rather large compared to the 21% base rate). *Time* as a barrier again translates to a negative effect as one would expect, reducing the expected proportion by 13 percentage points.

In contrast to the models of *AnnualSpend* considered in the previous table, *PropAnnualSpend* is lowered by close to 10 percentage points by having children in Model 3 and is not responsive to income (likely because the model effectively holds constant the household total food budget). Somewhat surprisingly in Table 10, there is no effect of *FreeRange* (which did significantly increase expected annual spend) or *Organic*. Shopping at OFM for the reason that its products are locally produced raises expected proportion spent at OFM by a significant 11 percentage points in the final column of Table 10. This implies, given OFM shoppers with a strong preference for local food were not predicted to spend more on food at OFM in Table 9, they are likely to spend less on food elsewhere. Unlike the previous estimation, there is no significant effect of *Prices* or *Weather* in Table 10.

Joint significance tests reported at the bottom of Table 10 show all groups of variables are statistically significant in specifications in which they appear, at least at the five percent level. Tests of the null hypotheses that different groups of variables have jointly zero effect on the probability of being weekly are mostly rejected at high levels of statistical significance.

Table 11 shows the average marginal effects obtained from the Probit model of the probability that an individual is a weekly shopper conditional on the same set of right-hand side variables as in the models of expenditure reported above. These results show no association between *Age* and the probability of being a weekly shopper until, surprisingly, when adding in attitudinal variables the association becomes significantly negative (this is the direct opposite of how age affected *LnAnnualSpend* and *PropAnnualSpend*). This could possibly reflect an increased opportunity cost of time for older persons after controlling for all other variables. However, this does not align with most other findings in the literature in which age has had a positive or

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	-0.235	-0.0750	-0.155
	(0.382)	(0.115)	(0.102)
Age = $50+$	0.186	0.0229	-0.197**
	(0.358)	(0.111)	(0.0899)
Male	0.174	0.0576	0.0530
	(0.275)	(0.0844)	(0.0863)
University	0.157	0.0302	0.0425
	(0.303)	(0.0963)	(0.108)
LnHhlncome	0.697***	0.202***	0.199***
	(0.197)	(0.0514)	(0.0522)
Adults $= 2$	-0.0575	-0.0221	0.133
	(0.318)	(0.0959)	(0.100)
Adults = $3+$	-0.0130	-0.00786	0.0576
	(0.357)	(0.108)	(0.100)
Children	-0.674*	-0.170	-0.253**
	(0.406)	(0.116)	(0.111)
OutsideDunedin	-1.718***	-0.475***	-0.440***
	(0.597)	(0.0883)	(0.117)
FreeRange		0.189**	0.0900
		(0.0910)	(0.0910)
Organic		-0.0455	0.0110
		(0.0866)	(0.0953)
DrinksEating		-0.232***	-0.202**
		(0.0874)	(0.0946)
LocalOther		-0.0847	-0.0483
		(0.0913)	(0.0913)
Service			0.250**
			(0.109)
Quality			0.197**
			(0.0890)
Fresh			0.0861
			(0.0909)
Local			0.220**
			(0.104)
Atmosphere			0.115
			(0.0868)
Prices			-0.0726
			(0.108)
Time			-0.296***
			(0.0917)
Weather			-0.223***
			(0.0860)
Money			-0.107
			(0.140)
Interviewer Fixed Effects	no	no	no
jointly zero	0.0073***	0.0000***	0.0000***
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0 0075***	0 1046
jointly zero		0.0075***	0.1040
r-value for null of Attitudes variables jointly zero			0.0000***
Observations	116	114	98
Pseudo R-Squared	0.1939	0.2734	0.4368

 Table 11: Average Marginal Effects of Three Emprical Models of Weekly

 (1)
 (2)
 (3)

Standard errors appear in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

no effect on intensity of local food shopping. The association between household income and the probability of being a weekly shopper, which is a large-magnitude effect of a 20 percentage point increase relative to the unconditional rate of 51% (i.e. a 39% relative increase) associated with a doubling of household income in the final specification. Having children reduces the expected probability of shopping weekly at OFM, with a 25 percentage point decrease in Model 3 of Table 11, likely reflecting less flexibility in shopping hours for parents, especially on Saturday mornings, when it is common for NZ children to participate in sporting or other activities.

As discussed earlier, respondents who say they come to OFM to purchase drinks and prepared food are far less likely to be weekly shoppers. Those who mentioned *Service* or *Quality* as a main reason for shopping at the market were 25 and 20 percentage points, respectively, more likely to be weekly shoppers. A preference for quality has been frequently noted as an influential factor on local food shopping behaviour in the literature but 'good service' (i.e. friendly vendors and the opportunity to interact with them) has been less prevailing. In our own data *Service* seems to be a particular motivator for OFM customer loyalty, in fact it has significant and positive effects in all three sets of empirical results presented thus far. We also note the relatively large positive associations between favour for *Local* products and being a weekly shopper, which has no significant effect in the *AnnualSpend* estimations.

As in the expenditure models, the main barriers negatively associated with the probability of being a weekly shopper are unsurprising. According to Table 11, limited hours of operation (coded by the variable *Time*) and 'bad' *Weather*, when mentioned as barriers to spending more at OFM, are associated with a 30 and 22 percentage point reduction in the likelihood of being a weekly shopper, respectively.

Variables within each grouping are jointly significant at the one percent level of confidence in all cases except for behavioural variables in Model 3 of Table 11.

5.2 Local Production Premium Results

Table 12 presents average marginal effects from the Tobit model of *DiscountUSA*, interpreted as the consumer's subjective percentage discount applied to value of a U.S.-produced food item over an otherwise similar NZ item. Results of a similar model for *DiscountChina* are presented in Appendix 3 but could not be estimated for the full specification.

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	0.615***	0.526***	0.319***
	(0.167)	(0.167)	(0.105)
Age = $50+$	0.665***	0.534***	0.178
	(0.155)	(0.1/1)	(0.164)
Мае	-0.228*	-0.181	-0.0136
Liniconsity	(0.121)	(0.117) 0.122	(0.0701)
University	-0.0797	-0.133	-0.242^{+++}
I nHhlncome	(0.107)	(0.120)	(0.109)
Linincone	(0.0707)	(0.0735)	(0.0557)
$\Delta dults - 2$	-0.310**	-0.328**	-0.302**
1 $d d d s = 2$	(0.140)	(0.137)	(0.119)
Adults - 3+	-0.0414	-0.0363	0.0319
	(0.119)	(0.116)	(0.0738)
Children	0.238*	0.209	0.148
	(0.133)	(0.139)	(0.155)
OutsideDunedin	-1.136*	-0.813	-0.898**
	(0.633)	(0.607)	(0.444)
FreeRange	(,	0.0536	-0.0996
C		(0.136)	(0.120)
Organic		0.174	0.386***
-		(0.132)	(0.116)
DrinksEating		-0.0725	-0.399***
		(0.131)	(0.146)
LocalOther		-0.105	-0.167**
		(0.111)	(0.0760)
Service			-0.341**
			(0.152)
Quality			-0.0174
			(0.126)
Fresh			0.0465
Tanal			(0.101)
Local			$0.6/4^{***}$
A trace on hore			(0.148)
Aunosphere			(0.0005)
Drices			0.0444
Thes			-0.0444
Time			-0.245**
Thic			(0.107)
Weather			-0.0876
			(0.0972)
Money			0.0806
5			(0.128)
P-value for null of Demographic variables	0.0000++++	0.0000	0.0000
jointly zero P-value for null of Behavioural variables	0.0000***	0.0000***	0.0000***
jointly zero		0.4249	0.0001***
P-value for null of Attitudes variables			0 0000***
jointly zero			0.0000
Observations	51	50	48
Number of censored observations	26	25	25
Psuedo R-squared	0.3611	0.394	0.8003

Table 12: Average Marginal Effects of Three Tobit Models of DiscountUSA

Psuedo R-squared Standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

The results in Table 12 suggest that consumers over the age of 29 are likely to discount U.S. produced food more than younger people interviewed at OFM, though significance for the 'over 50' category fades in Model 3, quite consistent with models of OFM shopping behaviour. Quite surprisingly in Table 12, individuals with higher education appear to expect a 24 percentage point smaller discount, controlling for all other characteristics, compared to a base rate of 56%. A doubling of household income is expected to be associated with a 26 percentage point higher discount in WTP which is intuitive that higher income earners can afford to pay a higher premium for particular preferences. Living in a household with two members has a large and significant negative effect on the discount compared to having only one household member. Being from outside of Dunedin is, in our data, negatively associated with WTP a domestic-food premium (which might make sense if these shoppers are primarily attracted to OFM as a tourism activity in Dunedin rather than an interest in local food per se).

We also see positive associations with *Organic* and negative with *DrinksEating*, as well as, quite surprisingly, *LocalOther* and *Service*. These negative effects may be counteracted by a much larger positive effect of shopping at the market because the produce is *Local*, which implies a much higher (67 percentage point) discount, and the positive effect of *Atmosphere* (of 38 percentage points). *Time* has a negative effect suggesting people who are 'busier' (at least on Saturday mornings) have less interest in paying for local production. The three variable groups each have some statistical significance jointly in almost all of the model specifications.

While we cannot compare results across the fully specified models of *DiscountUSA* and *DiscountChina* (in Appendix 3), we conclude that while people overall value US produce slightly higher than Chinese produce (as reported in Section 3), there is no particular individual characteristic which responds particularly differently to the foreign country of origin.

Not surprisingly results for the OLS estimates of determinants of the WTP a premium for Otago over non-Otago NZ produce returned few significant results (see Appendix 4 for results table). Main results included a (surprisingly) negative effect of *FreeRange*, negative effect of *DrinksEating*, and positive effect of *Atmosphere*. With such a small average premium reported and little variance little significance was to be expected.

Results of the model of *LnWTPNZ* conditional on *WTPChina* are reported in Appendix 5 and similarly for *WTPUSA* in Appendix 6.¹³ The set up of this model allows a Chow Test to be

¹³ In the implementation of this model we find some issues with collinearity due to small numbers of observations meaning not all terms could be included. Ideally with a larger sample size we could test across a full set of interaction terms, but following a long tradition in statistics suggesting that cells in any design matrix

performed to check the equality of coefficients across the group of customers willing and that unwilling to buy the foreign (Chinese or US) product. P-values of the Chow Test reported at the bottom of Appendices 5 and 6 show coefficients common to the two groups are statistically different at the five percent level in Model 1 but significance fades with the addition of more conditional information. As a result we are unable to conclude with certainty whether variables that affect individuals' WTP for the NZ grown product do so in different ways, depending on whether the individual is willing or not to buy the foreign version. The fact that in the full specification we cannot reject the hypothesis that the coefficients are equal across the two consumer types for either dependent variable is possibly a parsimony issue since there are such a large number of parameters to be estimated. However, we cannot rule out that coefficients are no different across the two groups in the fully specified model.

In the first specification (i.e. with the least variables included), results show the group with positive WTP for the US good are expected to pay a premium of around 15% over the maximum price they are willing to pay for the NZ product, given the responses to other variables are held fixed. Compared to the Chinese good, the conditional premium for local production is five percent. These are both much smaller than the unconditional premiums estimated in Section 3.1, and reduce further in magnitude and statistical significance as more dependent variables are added to the models.

5.3 Robustness Tests

A robustness check for possible interviewer effects is undertaken by including *Interviewer* fixed effects and *Hour* in the models of *LnAnnualSpend* (see Appendix 7). We are assured that interviewer effects are not jointly significant at the five percent level and results are fairly consistent with the original estimations. In some specifications, *Hour* has a strongly negative effect on annual spend implying that being interviewed one hour later decreases expected annual spend at OFM by 26% in Model 3 of Table 18 ($e^{-0.302}-1 = -0.261$). It could be that high spenders are temporally concentrated in the early hours of operation with lower-spending shoppers arriving later.

with fewer than five observations should be dropped. We also tried this test with the full set of interactions by accepting our software's (STATA 13) automated dropping due to collinearity and reach the same decisions on the null hypothesis.

A Chow Test for differences in coefficients of on-site and online respondents reported in Appendix 8 rejects the null hypothesis at the five percent level in all 3 specifications.¹⁴ Thus, we find little evidence in the data pointing to bias from interviewer effects or the online survey.¹⁵

Appendix 9 shows the 2SLS approach of the *LnAnnualSpend* estimation (described in section 4.1) is somewhat altered from OLS estimation. The significance of *FreeRange* is lost in Model 2 while the effect of *DrinksEating* becomes stronger in magnitude in Model 3. This would suggest that a preference for *FreeRange* products does not have a significant effect on yearly spend at OFM when taking out the cost of such products, whereas a preference for ready-to-eat food and drinks has a stronger effect on spending when you take away the effect of prices of these items. Effects of other variables are only slightly effected, except that *Service* loses its significance and *Quality* becomes a newly, though weakly, significant variable.

One might reasonably raise concerns about the possibility that *WTPChina*>0 or *WTPUSA*>0 status is endogenous in the models of *LnWTPNZ*. We therefore ran an endogenous treatment effect model as laid out by Cong and Drukker (2000), using STATA's 'etregress' command.¹⁶ The results for the model conditional on *WTPChina*, reported in Appendix 10, predict a treatment effect of positive WTP for the Chinese product reduces *WTPNZ* buy \$8.80. However, we found our small sample size to be an issue in the ability of STATA to estimate this model, and were unable to include all desired independent variables at once. Results are highly sensitive to the variables which were included, where some show the treatment effect is not significantly different from zero.

¹⁴ Following the same issue of collinearity in the Chow Test presented in section 5.2, we dropped cells with fewer than five observations. Results for the Chow test are robust across this method and allowing automatic dropping of variables due to collinearity by STATA.

¹⁵ We only report robustness tests for the main model of *LnAnnualSpend*. To check on robustness with respect to inclusion of interviewer fixed effects we re-ran all models that we could with interviewer fixed effects (with 5 or more observations per interviewer), finding evidence to reject the null of no joint effect only in the *PropAnnualSpend* variable and, even there, with sensitivities that make joint significance easily disappear. The interpretation we attach to all runs of models with interviewer fixed effects is that there does not appear to be serious problems with particular interviewers eliciting unusually large or small values for the variables analysed in this study.

¹⁶ For this a linear regression model of *WTPNZ* conditional on the WTP for the foreign item and the main independent variables of interest is augmented with an endogenous binary treatment variable, where the decision to buy the foreign product is set as the outcome of an unobserved latent variable. We assume the latent variable is a linear function of the main independent variables.

6 Discussion

The characteristic which most consistently influences shopping behaviours at OFM is household income, which appears to positively affect shopping at OFM across all dimensions explored, even shopping frequency. This signals opportunities for OFM or surrounding local food developments to attract and cater more to lower income earners. A preference for 'good service' (i.e. 'friendly' vendors and the possibility to 'interact' with them) is also positively associated with all main OFM shopping behaviours which we model. This is strong evidence that OFM is particularly attractive to those looking for a more personal shopping experience and the chance to connect with the producers of the food they buy, which new local food developments may want to consider.

Comparisons across sets of results prompt further inferences about OFM customers, though the following conclusions we draw should not be taken as concrete given the models contain different sample sizes. Consumer characteristics which are expected to increase both annual spend at OFM and WTP for local production include being over 50 years old and having higher household income (in most cases). This implies customers with such characteristics place higher utility on local production as an attribute of food, and consistent with this, spend relatively more on local food products at OFM. Similarly, having not purchased ready-to-eat food or drinks and being from outside Dunedin are expected to decrease both annual spend at OFM and WTP for local production. Intuitively this makes sense considering customers at OFM to buy prepared food and drinks or visiting from out of town are likely at OFM to enjoy outdoor eating or observe local culture than specifically to find local food.

Several variables are seen to have significant effects in models of WTP for local production but not in those of OFM expenditure. Namely, these are: being aged 30 to 49 (compared to a reference category of 18 to 29 year olds); having a preference for organic foods at OFM; and shopping at OFM because the products are local or because of its atmosphere. It appears that these characteristics are associated with an increased value for local production but this does not translate into higher spending at OFM. We do not have enough information to conclude whether this indicates a gap between intentions described by respondents and behaviours reported (consistent with theory in Young, DeSarbo and Morwitz (1998)), or if they are more likely than others to find other sources of local food, such as having their own garden.

Our results also suggest that shopping at OFM because the products are local is expected to increase the proportion of total food purchases carried out at OFM by 11 percentage points.

This would suggest that, although individuals with this characteristic do not spend significantly more in a year at OFM than others, their spending at OFM does tend to make up more of their total food spending. This could mean they spend less overall on food by choosing cheaper products (which would be in line with the study we reviewed by Mirosa and Lawson (2012) which finds local food consumption is associated with frugality), wasting less food or growing and foraging one's own food.

From this same comparison of models, we are encouraged to see that weather as a barrier is negatively associated with expenditure at OFM but not significant in models of WTP for local production.¹⁷ This implies potential changes for OFM to attract revenue from customers who are likely interested in their products but perceive the indoor location to be a significant deterrent to shopping there. However, time as a barrier is negatively associated with both expenditure at OFM and WTP for local production.

Overall, our results are relatively robust to the inclusion of interviewer fixed effects and for comparisons between respondents recruited to do onsite interviews and online surveys. However, we do want to acknowledge several limitations of our data that imply caution is warranted in how reliably results reported in this study can be generalised. Small sample sizes of course limit the precision with which conditional expectations, even if correctly specified, can be estimated. This problem also resulted in the inability of STATA to estimate some of our models with large numbers of independent variables.

Selection bias is a potential issue in our data, which we think does an admirable job of avoiding. OFM organisers do a count every March of the number of customers coming through the market gates. For the past two years this number has been approximately 7,500 customers (email sent to authors by Vercoe, July 22, 2015). Therefore, our sample size of 137 covers around 2.1% of the estimated population of shoppers. We believe we made every intention to draw a representative sample from that population. We tried to spread interviewers both temporally and spatially when conducting survey interviews to avoid introducing obvious systematic selection (e.g. shoppers who tend to shop at a particular time period or are fans of one particular stall). Nevertheless, the data is potentially affected by selection effects, regarding especially the degrees to which potential respondents were time constrained when approached by our team of interviewers.

¹⁷ This comparison is based off results from *DiscountUSA* as it could not be estimated for *DiscountChina*.

7 Conclusion

We learn a great deal about OFM consumers' preferences in this study from empirical analyses of annual spend, frequency of shopping, and proportion of total food spending carried out at OFM. Characteristics which most consistently have positive influences across these shopping behaviour dimensions are household income and a preference for 'good service' of vendors at OFM. The income elasticity measure we estimate, conditional on all other dependent variables, predicts that a one percent increase in household income is associated with a 0.78% increase in annual spend.

Several variables in models of OFM shopping behaviour have consistently negative effects. These variables include: living in an area outside of the city where the OFM is held; having mentioned time as a barrier to spending more at OFM; and shopping at OFM for drinks or ready-to-eat food. Our descriptive analysis shows there is an inexplicit divide across consumers - most frequent shoppers tend to come mainly for groceries, while those who do not attend every week are more inclined to enjoy the market's café culture. The time barrier variable has a negative effect on spend in a single visit at OFM, suggesting it is more than just an obstacle to getting to the market.

Among other interesting findings, our data reveal the effects of shopping at OFM for free range or organic foods is not as strong as theory would anticipate, with few significant effects across models. Shopping at OFM because of its 'good service' and quality products are the main attitudes of customers which increase yearly spend. These effects are channelled from more frequent visits to OFM, rather than spending more in a single visit.

In addition to analysis of OFM shopping behaviour, this project fosters understandings of how OFM customers value local production, based on information of consumer WTP for food products that are from different locations but are otherwise equivalent. We find that, on average, customers are willing to pay 62% less for Chinese produce (and 56% less for US produce) than NZ produce. In contrast, the consumers are only willing to pay five percent less for produce grown somewhere in NZ than for produce specifically from the local region. From another point of view, we find the premium customers are willing to pay for Otago-produced food over NZ produce ranges between at least 2.1% and eight percent. Upon further inspection of the data we uncover two distinct groups of consumers with respect to the measures of WTP comparing NZ and foreign items - one is willing to buy both NZ and foreign produce items, and one is willing only to buy domestic produce but strongly opposed to purchasing the

imported versions. This suggests that, although farmers markets are known to be highly attractive to consumers with strong preferences for local food, we still find a significant amount of OFM customers place positive value on some foreign food items. Testing for differences in how variables affect these two consumer groups' WTP for a NZ food product, we find there is likely no difference. However, this result was sensitive to model specification, and has a potential parsimony issue increasing the likelihood of drawing this conclusion.

We find the influence of many consumer characteristics on WTP for local production are largely in line with our findings on OFM shopping behaviour. However, customers who shop at OFM because the produce is locally produced, or because of the atmosphere of the market, or for organic foods, are more likely to pay a higher premium for local production, despite these having no effect on annual spending at OFM. Furthermore, while perceiving time and weather as barriers to spending more at OFM are significantly negatively associated with yearly spend at OFM, they do not appear to be related to customer WTP for local production.

We believe differences among particular subsets of consumers at OFM exposed by our research warrant further investigation. Future work could explore why some consumers are willing to buy foreign produce and others place flatly zero value on such items, and what individual characteristics influence whether OFM consumers primarily visit to shop for groceries or to enjoy drinks and prepared foods. It would also be valuable to apply similar methods to ours to a more representative group of food consumers in society, not just limited to OFM customers. In addition, considering consumer characteristics such as interest in health and nutrition, food and cooking, and environmental protection not represented in our data would be worthwhile.

References

Baum, C. F., 2008. Stata Tip 63: Modelling proportions. *The Stata Journal*, 8(2), pp. 299-303, (AgEcon Search).

Brown, C., 2003. Consumers' preferences for locally produced food: A study in southeast Missouri. *Americal Journal of Alternative Agriculture*, 18(4), pp. 213-224, (Cambridge University Press).

Brown, G. K. & Mergoupis, T., 2011. Treatment interactions with nonexperimental data in Stata. *The Stata Journal*, 11(4), pp. 545-555, (Ag Econ Search).

Calhoun, C., 2002. *Dictionary of the Social Sciences*. Oxford University Press, (Oxford Reference Library).

Cameron, A., 2005. Farmers' markets - meeting new needs in traditional ways. *Primary Industry Management*, 8(2), pp. 31-32.

Cameron, A., 2007. Farmers' markets as small business incubators and safety nets: Evidence from New Zealand. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*, 13(6), pp. 367-379.

Cong, R. & Drukker, D. M., 2000. Treatment effects model. *Stata Technical Bulletin*, 10(55), pp. 25-33.

Darby, K., Batte, M. T., Ernst, S. & Roe, B., 2007. Decomposing Local: A Conjoint Analysis of Locally Produced Foods. *American Agricultural Economics Association*, 90(2), pp. 476-486, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8276.2007.01111.x

Eastwood, D. B., Brooker, J. R. & Gray, M. D., 1999. Location and Other Attributes Affecting Farmer's Market Patronage: The Case of Tenessee. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 30(1), pp. 63-72, (AgEcon Search).

Fathelrahman, E., Hussein, A., Muhammad, S. & Sherif, S., 2015. Supply and Demand for Fresh Locally Produced Poultry Products in United Arab Emirates. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 46(1), pp. 11-17, (AgEcon Search).

Govindasamy, R. & Puduri, V., 2010. Hispanic consumers' perceptions toward locally grown ethnic produce: A study from the east-coast US. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 26(1), pp. 38-45, doi: 10.1017/S1742170510000414

Gracia, A., de Magistris, T. & Nayga, R. M., 2012. Importance of Social Influence in Consumers' Willingness to Pay for Local Food: Are There Gender Differences. *Agribusiness*, 28(3), pp. 361-371, (Wiley Online Library).

Guthrie, J., Guthrie, A., Lawson, R. & Cameron, A., 2006. Farmers' markets: the small business counter-revolution in food production and retailing. *British Food Journal*, 108(7), pp. 560-573, doi: 10.1108/00070700610676370

Keeling Bond, J., Thilmany, D. & Bond, C., 2009. What Influences Consumer Choice of Fresh Produce Purchase Location?. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 41(1), pp. 61-74, (AgEcon Search).

Kemp, K., Insch, A., Holdsworth, D. K. & Knight, J. G., 2010. Food miles: Do UK consumers actually care?. *Food Policy*, Volume 35, pp. 504-513, doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.05.011

Kezis, A., Gwebu, T., Peavey, S. & Cheng, H.-t., 1998. A Study of Consumers at a Small Farmers' Market in Maine: Results from a 1995 Study. *Journal of Food Distribution Research Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 29(1), pp. 91-99, (AgEconSearch).

Lawson, R., Guthrie, J., Cameron, A. & Fischer, W. C., 2008. Creating value through cooperation: An investigation of farmers' markets in New Zealand. *British Food Journal*, pp. Vol. 110 Iss 1 pp. 11 - 25, doi: 10.1108/00070700810844768

Low, S. A. et al., 2015. *Trends in U.S. Local and Regional Food Systems: Report to Congress*, AP-068, United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. [Online] Available from: http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/1763057/ap068.pdf [Accessed 10th August, 2015].

Ministry for Primary Industries, 2015. *Sustainable Farming Fund*. [Online] Available at: https://www.mpi.govt.nz/funding-and-programmes/farming/sustainablefarming-fund/ [Accessed 29th September 2015].

Mirosa, M. & Lawson, R., 2012. Revealing the lifestyles of local food consumers. *British Food Journal*, 114(6), pp. 816-825, doi: 10.1108/00070701211234345

Murphy, A. J., 2011. Farmers' Markets as Retail Spaces. *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management*, 39(8), pp. 582-597, doi: 10.1108/09590551111148668

Onianwa, O., Wheelock, G. & Mojica, M., 2005. An Analysis of the Determinants of Farmerto-Consumer Direct-Market Shoppers. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 36(1), pp. 130-134, (AgEcon Search).

Otago Farmers Market, n.d.. *become a vendor*. [Online] Available at: http://www.otagofarmersmarket.org.nz/pages/3-5/Become-a-vendor [Accessed 11th August, 2015].

Parke, L. E. & Wooldridge, J. M., 1996. Econometric methods for fractional response variables with an application to 401(K) plan participation rates. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, Volume 11, pp. 619-632, (JSTOR Arts and Sciences I).

Szmigin, I., Maddock, S. & Carrigan, M., 2003. Conceptualising community consumption: Farmers' markets and the older consumer. *British Food Journal*, 106(8), doi: 10.1108/00070700310497291

Thompson, E. J., Harper, A. M. & Kraus, S., 2008. *Think Globally ~ Eat Locally*. [Online] Available at: https://www.farmland.org/initiatives/bay-area-food-and-farming-fund [Accessed 25th September, 2015].

United States Department of Agriculture, 2015. *Know Your Farmer Know Your Food: Our Mission*. [Online] Available at: http://www.usda.gov/wps/portal/usda/usdahome?navid=KYF_MISSION [Accessed 29th September, 2015].

Westervelt, A. C. & Hawkins, M. H., 1979. Farmers' Markets, Maslow and Self-Actualised Consumers. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 27(2), pp. 27-34 (Wiley Online Library).

Wolf, M. M., Spittler, A. & Ahern, J., 2005. A Profi le of Farmers' Market Consumers and the Perceived Advantages of Produce Sold at Farmers' Markets. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 36(1), pp. 192-201, (AgEcon Search).

Wooldridge, J. M., 2000. *Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach*. South-Western College Publishing.

Young, M. R., DeSarbo, W. S. & Morwitz, V. G., 1998. The Stochastic Modeling of Purchase Intentions and Behavior. *Management Science*, 44(2), pp. 188-202, (Informs).

Zepeda, L. & Li, J., 2006. Who Buys Local Food?. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*, 37(3), pp. 1-11, (AgEcon Search).

8 Appendices

Appendix 1: Otago Farmers Market Customer Survey

	Otago Farmers Market Customer Survey (1)				
	Date: 28/03/2015				
	Time: 🗆 7am 🗆 7.30am 🗆 8am 🗆 8.30am 🗆 9am 🗆 9.30am 🗆 10am 🗆 10.30am 🗆 11am 🗆 11.30am 🗆 12pm				
	Location: Otago Farmers Market				
	Interviewer:				
	Hi I'm conducting a survey to find out what food issues are impor	tant to all of us who shop at Otago Farmers Market.			
	Do you have some time to share your thoughts with us? First I ne	ed to you to take a look at the information sheet			
	and sign that you give consent to participate in the survey.				
1	For how many years have you been coming to the farmers market?	Years:			
2	(If not first time) how frequently do you shop at the farmers				
-	market? E.g. one week in a month?				
3	Do your food shopping habbits change with the seasons?	No impact, I buy whatever I need.			
		I want to buy seasonal but occasionally buy things			
		out of season.			
		I only buy what is in season			
4	Do you visit the farmers market to buy foods which are:	Organic or spray-free Fair trade			
		Forest-stewardship Free-range			
5	Do you get food from anywhere other than the farmers market	I have my own garden and grow my own food			
	and retail stores? E.g.do you grow your own food?	Farm gate food vendors			
		Food box / co-op initiatives			
		🗆 Other:			
6	What is your favourite thing about the farmers market. Please	Buying local is important to me			
	explain:	The atmosphere/socialising			
		The variety/specific selection of foods			
		The prices of food items			
		🗆 Other			
7	Have you already shopped or are you about to shop at the	Already Shopped D About to shop			
	farmers market today?	Part way through			
8	How many stalls have you bought from or do you plan to buy				
	from today?				
9	What products do you plan to buy or have you bought already	Fruit and/or vegetables			
	at the farmers market today?	Meat and/or fish			
		Dairy products such as cheese			
		Bottled beverages and/or condiments such as			
		chutneys			
		Pre-prepared foods and/or baking			
		Drinks such as coffee and/or outdoor eating			
		Non-food items or products such as cosmetics or			
		plants			
		🗆 Other			
10	How much do you plan to spend or how much have you spent				
	aiready today at the farmers market?				
11	How much do you plan to spend or how much have you spent				
10	already on food at the farmers market today?				
12	How much does the household you are shopping for generally				
	spena on Jooa in a week, incluaing farmers markets, grocery				
	store spending, and restaurants?				

customers, we will not record any personal details that will enal	ble you to be identified from your answers later
Could you tell me your age?	
Would you describe your gender as male or female?	Male Female
How would you describe your ethnicity or ethnic group?	New Zealand European
	Other
Where do vou live?	Dunedin
·	Within Otago but outside of Dunedin
	Outside of New Zealand
	Outside of New Zealand
Which transport did you use to get to the market today? E.g.	
walk, car, bike	
Using that transport, roughly how many minutes would you	Minutes:
estimate that it took you to get to the market?	
What is the highest level of formal education you have	Some high school but didn't complete
completed?	Completed high school
	Completed polytechnic program
	Attended university but did not complete
	Graduated from university
	Post-graduate program completed
Are you currently a student?	
What is your total annual household income before tax?	s
nnacis your totar annaar nousenoia meone bejore tax.	
	□ Less than \$25,000 □ \$25,000 - \$50,000
	□ \$51,000 - \$75,000 □ \$76,000 - \$100,000
	□ \$76,000 - \$100,000 □ \$101,000 - \$125,000
	□ \$126,000 - \$150,000 □ Over \$150,000
The household you are shopping for includes how many people	0-1 years of age: babies
of each of the following age groups? Please include yourself in	1-12 years of age: children
this answer.	13-17 years: teens
	18-25 years: adults
	26 65 years: adults
	20-05 yearsaduits
	66+ years:adults
Do you nave experience working as a farmer?	
Dia anyone in your family have experience working as a	🗆 Yes 🗖 No
Jarmer? I now have some questions about what you dislike about the me	rket
I dike you to thick of a time when you dislike doold the mo	
I a like you to think of a time when you wanted to shop at the	Inconvenience
formars market but wound up not changing there. What is the	Put off by the weather
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the	D Facon by the weather
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the	Prices
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain.	Prices Other
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain.	Prices Other
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain. What change would most increase how much you spend at the f	Prices Other
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain. What change would most increase how much you spend at the f	Prices Other
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain. What change would most increase how much you spend at the f	□ Prices □ Other
farmers market but wound up not shopping there. What is the biggest barrier keeping you from spending more money at the farmers market? Please explain. What change would most increase how much you spend at the f What food items would you like to buy at the farmers market th	armers market?

.

have co

rstand Farmers Market

28	Aside from the farmers market, can you name any	Countdown Dew World
	retail stores where you regularly shop for food?	🗆 Pak N Save 🗆 Four Square
	E.g. Countdown	Veggie Boys online
		Taste Nature
		🗆 Other
29	When you shop at the farmers market, do you do any shopping	Yes – how much do you normally spend?
	at other stores on the same shopping run?	\$ □ No
	I now have some questions about how much you pay for differen	t products.
	Please think of a food item that you buy both at the farmers man	ket and at a grocery store with same quality.
30	What item did you think of?	
	What price would you typically pay for the item at the farmers	c
	market?	5 per
	What price would you typically pay for the similar item if you	¢ per
	weren't shopping at the farmers market?	۶ þci
	(Skip if haven't shopped yet) Can you think of a produce item to	hat you bought at the farmers market today?
31	If price 10% less, buy the same amount or more?	Same amount More % more
	If price 50% less, would you buy same amount or more?	□ Same amount □ More % more
	If price 10% more, would you buy same amount, or less?	Same amount Less % less
	If price 50% more, would youbuy same amount, or less?	Same amount Less % less
32	Would you ever buy fresh salmon?	
	(If no, prawns? Monk fish? - circle which used)	
	In a typical instance of shopping for this item	
	how much would you be willing to pay /kg for it?	\$ /kg
	Assuming all other quality aspects are the same	
	how much would you be willing to pay for this item the if you	S /kg
	were told the only option available was caught in NZ ?	·/ · · ·
	China?	\$ /kg
	Australia?	\$ /kg
	Otago?	\$/kg
33	Would you ever buy lemons?	
	(if no, oranges? Garlic? Tomatoes? - circle which used)	
	in a typical instance of snopping for this item	6 h-
	now much would you be willing to pay /kg for them?	5/Кg
	Assuming an other quality aspects are the same	
	How much would you be willing to pay for this item if you	\$ /kg
	were tota the only option available produced in NZ ?	÷
	China?	5 /Kg
	0tago?	s /va
34		Y/^5
54	From product selected in above question When buying	
	, you see you nave the option of New Zealand or USA	o USA o NZ
	If they were both \$/Kg (PRICE THEY WERE	
	withing to PAT, which of the two would you buy?	
	If answer is NZ:	
	If NZ lemons stayed at that same price, what price would the	
	USA product have to be for you to choose them over the NZ	\$ /kg
	product?	

35	What was the last produce item you bought at a grocery store?		
	How much did you pay for it? Was it a product of New Zealand? If yes, then what price would you have been willing to pay if it weren't a NZ product, assuming all other quality characteristics were the same? If no, then what price would you have been willing to pay if it	\$ □ Yes \$	per Do
	were the same?	۶ <u> </u>	per
	I now have a few open-ended questions to finish with.		
20	Name up to three reasons why you buy jood at the jarmers mai	Kel.	
37	Do you consider yourself to be of Maori descent?	🗆 Yes	D No
	markets and local food economies?		
39	What areas of improvement, if any, do you think could be implen	nented in 1	the farmers market?
40	Are there any other local food initiatives you think would make a	positive ii	mpact in Otago moving forwards?
41	How would you summarise your overall experience at the farmer	s market?	,
42	Do you have any other comments or questions?		
	That is the end of the survey. Thank you yery much for participat	inal	

Appendix 2: OLS Estimates of Three Emprical Models of Spe	nd
---	----

	(1)	(2)	(3)
<u>Variables</u>	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	11.52	5.739	-1.181
	(9.522)	(9.226)	(10.16)
Age = 50+	31.34***	23.11***	6.236
	(8.898)	(8.700)	(9.835)
Male	-6.451	-1.234	-2.737
	(6.554)	(6.411)	(6.960)
University	-1.908	-6.995	-0.677
	(7.394)	(7.103)	(7.900)
LnHhIncome	9.491**	9.840**	14.05***
	(4.593)	(4.439)	(5.161)
Adults $= 2$	15.16*	13.71*	10.42
	(7.705)	(7.270)	(8.012)
Adults = $3+$	13.78	18.47**	18.03**
	(8.711)	(8.276)	(8.729)
Children	15.02	12.55	10.36
	(9.491)	(9.129)	(9.621)
OutsideDunedin	1.181	0.630	-20.05*
	(10.16)	(9.578)	(11.41)
FreeRange		9.595	3.168
		(6.569)	(7.403)
Organic		18.22***	25.53***
		(6.794)	(7.529)
DrinksEating		-6.909	-16.12**
		(6.619)	(7.487)
LocalOther		9.493	5.669
		(7.141)	(7.736)
Service			11.43
			(8.559)
Quality			7.826
			(7.578)
Fresh			-1.699
			(7.103)
Local			3.701
			(7.685)
Atmosphere			3.973
			(8.010)
Prices			-5.292
			(9.422)
Time			-25.78***
			(8.990)
Weather			-9.794
			(7.302)
Money			-20.17
	01 75*	00.04	(12.42)
Constant	-81.75*	-99.34**	-125.4**
	(44.56)	(43.52)	(49.76)
Interviewer Fixed Effects	no	no	no
jointly zero	0.0000***	0.0001***	0.0018***
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0.0020***	0.0005***
jointly zero B value for pull of Attitudes variables		0.0020	5.0005
jointly zero			0.1316
-			
Observations	113	111	96
R-squared	0.332	0.444	0.569
Adjusted R-squared	0.2732	0.369	0.4389

Standard errors appear in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Appendix 3: Average Partial Effects of Two	Tobit Models of L	DiscountChina
	(1)	(2)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours
Age = 30 to 49	0.713***	0.588***
	(0.132)	(0.128)
Age = $50+$	0.806***	0.672***
	(0.120)	(0.122)
Male	-0.183*	-0.160*
	(0.0936)	(0.0861)
University	0.0306	-0.0239
	(0.0880)	(0.0987)
LnHhIncome	0.0382	0.0667
	(0.0557)	(0.0552)
Adults $= 2$	-0.417***	-0.426***
	(0.128)	(0.120)
Adults = $3+$	-0.0154	0.0288
	(0.0835)	(0.0748)
Children	0.369***	0.341***
	(0.0816)	(0.0964)
OutsideDunedin	-1.113**	-0.773*
	(0.516)	(0.454)
FreeRange		0.0296
-		(0.104)
Organic		0.184*
-		(0.0974)
DrinksEating		-0.162
-		(0.102)
LocalOther		-0.00118
		(0.0928)
P-value for null of Demographic variables jointly zero	0.0000***	0.0000***
P-value for null of Behavioural variables jointly zero		0.0712*
Observations	54	53
Number of censored observations	29	28
Psuedo R-squared	0.5388	0.6125
Standard errors in parentheses		

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Partial effects could not be computed for Attitudes variables

Appendix 4: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of DiscountNZnonlocal

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	0.0599	0.0530	0.00697
8	(0.0653)	(0.0658)	(0.0713)
Age = 50+	0.0704	0.119*	0.0627
	(0.0623)	(0.0676)	(0.0807)
Male	0.0387	0.0373	0.0894
Wak	(0.0474)	(0.0375)	(0.0528)
University	(0.0474)	(0.0473)	0.0678
Oniversity	(0.0502)	(0.0554)	(0.0704)
I al lh la como	(0.0303)	(0.0334)	(0.0794)
Linnincome	-0.0255	-0.0157	0.0262
	(0.0348)	(0.0368)	(0.0458)
Adults = 2	-0.0742	-0.0642	-0.0795
	(0.0582)	(0.0578)	(0.0650)
Adults = $3+$	0.0300	0.0548	0.0472
	(0.0598)	(0.0591)	(0.0630)
Children	0.0482	0.0522	-0.00248
	(0.0764)	(0.0771)	(0.0915)
OutsideDunedin	0.141	0.0588	0.109
	(0.188)	(0.192)	(0.206)
FreeRange		-0.154**	-0.216***
		(0.0578)	(0.0697)
Organic		0.0390	0.0704
		(0.0542)	(0.0633)
DrinksEating		-0.0305	-0.114*
		(0.0515)	(0.0617)
LocalOther		0.0109	-0.0376
		(0.0568)	(0.0681)
Service			0.0667
			(0.0747)
Quality			0.0194
			(0.0737)
Fresh			0.0268
			(0.0637)
Local			0.0691
Local			(0.0767)
Atmosphere			0.129*
A unospilere			(0.0728)
Prices			0.0431
Tites			(0.0751)
Timo			0.0030
Tille			(0.0602)
Waathar			(0.0092)
weather			0.0549
Monor			(0.0379)
Money			0.0449
	0.000	0.165	(0.0898)
Constant	0.230	0.165	-0.287
	(0.348)	(0.357)	(0.427)
Interviewer Fixed Effects	no	no	no
jointly zero	0.7041	0.4695	0.4156
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0.1214	0.0206
jointly zero		0.1314	0.0200
P-value for null of Attitudes variables jointly			0.4347
2010			
Observations	56	55	53
R-squared	0 121	0.260	0.450
Adjusted R-Squared	_0.051	0.200	0.450
Aujusicu K-squaleu	-0.031	0.020	0.047

Standard errors appear in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Appendix 5: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnWTPNZ for Chow Test				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes	
LnWTPChina	1.047***	0.956***	0.798	
	(0.232)	(0.230)	(0.477)	
China_Positive	-0.312	-3.365	2.844	
	(2.590)	(2.957)	(5.276)	
Age = 30 to 49	-0.0135	-0.0137	-0.103	
C	(0.259)	(0.263)	(0.328)	
Age = 50+	-0.461	-0.325	-0.905*	
-	(0.291)	(0.301)	(0.502)	
Male	-0.329	-0.410*	0.0602	
	(0.225)	(0.230)	(0.404)	
Male * China_Positive	0.545*	0.581*	0.145	
	(0.323)	(0.322)	(0.440)	
University	-0.598***	-0.928***	-0.895**	
	(0.215)	(0.231)	(0.324)	
University * China_Positive	0.600*	0.818**	0.481	
	(0.315)	(0.392)	(0.620)	
LnHhIncome	0.212	-0.111	0.784	
	(0.218)	(0.251)	(0.501)	
LnHhIncome * China_Positive	-0.233	0.0512	-0.489	
	(0.253)	(0.280)	(0.467)	
Adults = 2	-0.0952	0.125	-0.696	
	(0.265)	(0.293)	(0.573)	
Adults = $3+$	0.00288	0.0722	0.218	
	(0.198)	(0.195)	(0.267)	
Adults = $2 * China_Positive$	0.589	0.297	0.697	
	(0.408)	(0.471)	(0.725)	
Children	0.133	0.696**	-0.405	
	(0.295)	(0.332)	(0.617)	
FreeRange		-0.455	-0.103	
		(0.303)	(0.372)	
FreeRange * China_Positive		0.382	0.514	
		(0.459)	(0.627)	
Organic		-0.206	0.429	
		(0.293)	(0.520)	
Organic * China_Positive		0.457	-0.0950	
		(0.402)	(0.681)	
DrinksEating		-0.692**	-0.562	
		(0.319)	(0.412)	
DrinksEating * China_Positive		0.821*	-0.0574	
		(0.415)	(0.613)	
LocalOther		0.814***	0.463	
		(0.234)	(0.331)	
				6

	Test		
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
LocalOther * China_Positive		-0.732*	-0.542
		(0.367)	(0.509)
Service			0.167
			(0.325)
Quality			-0.295
			(0.296)
Fresh			-0.412
			(0.324)
Fresh * China_Positive			0.0706
			(0.560)
Local			-0.457
			(0.485)
Local * China_Positive			0.760
			(0.686)
Atmosphere			0.113
			(0.395)
Atmosphere * China_Positive			0.321
			(0.505)
Prices			0.911
			(0.772)
Prices * China_Positive			-1.223
			(0.867)
Time			-0.390
			(0.254)
Weather			0.129
			(0.351)
Weather * China_Positive			-0.246
			(0.478)
Money			-0.0661
			(0.378)
Constant	0.242	3.697	-5.192
	(2.265)	(2.724)	(5.308)
P-value for Chow test	0.0479**	0.0601*	0.4785
Observations	55	54	52
R-squared	0.567	0.707	0.855
Adjusted R-squared	0.4150	0.4998	0.5084
Chandend and a second to a second to a second			

Appendix 5 Continued: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnWTPNZ for Chow Test

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Interactions with China_Positive and Age = 30 to 49, Age = 50+, Adults = 3, Service, Quality, Time and Money deleted due to having fewer than five observations in each category

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
LocalOther * China_Positive		-0.732*	-0.542
		(0.367)	(0.509)
Service			0.167
			(0.325)
Quality			-0.295
			(0.296)
Fresh			-0.412
			(0.324)
Fresh * China_Positive			0.0706
			(0.560)
Local			-0.457
			(0.485)
Local * China_Positive			0.760
			(0.686)
Atmosphere			0.113
			(0.395)
Atmosphere * China_Positive			0.321
			(0.505)
Prices			0.911
			(0.772)
Prices * China_Positive			-1.223
			(0.867)
Time			-0.390
			(0.254)
Weather			0.129
			(0.351)
Weather * China_Positive			-0.246
			(0.478)
Money			-0.0661
			(0.378)
Constant	0.242	3.697	-5.192
	(2.265)	(2.724)	(5.308)
P-value for Chow test	0.0479**	0.0601*	0.4785
Observations	55	54	52
R-squared	0.567	0.707	0.855
Adjusted R-squared	0.4150	0.4998	0.5084

Appendix 5 Continued: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnWTPNZ for
Chow Test

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

OutsideDunedin and Interactions with China_Positive and Age = 30 to 49, Age = 50+, Adults = 3+, Children, Outside Duedin, Service, Quality, Time and Money deleted due to having fewer than five observations in each category

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	(1) Demographics	(2) + Behaviours	(J) + Attitudes
variables	Demographies	T Denaviours	Attitudes
I nWTPLISA	1 152***	1 047***	0 320
	(0.219)	(0.204)	(0.624)
USA Positive	-0.250	-2 584	-6 537
	(2,545)	(2,586)	(7.018)
Age - 30 to 49	-0.491	-0.575	0.511
nge = 50 to +5	(0.372)	(0.347)	(0.424)
$\Delta re = 50 \pm$	_1 189***	-1 215***	-0.0506
$ngc = 50^{\circ}$	(0.372)	(0.363)	(0.573)
Age -30 to $49 \times USA$ Positive	0 494	0.619	-0 523
	(0.507)	(0.475)	(0.684)
$A \sigma e = 50 + * USA$ Positive	1 386***	1 534***	-
	(0.462)	(0.439)	_
Male	-0.302	-0.246	-0.656
ivia.e	(0.232)	(0.228)	(0.477)
Male * USA Positive	(0.232) 0.447	0.220)	0.601
	(0.340)	(0.337)	(0.461)
University	-0 757***	-1 016***	-1 612**
Oniversity	(0.215)	(0.218)	(0.622)
University * USA Positive	0.636**	0.730	1 783
Oniversity OSA_1 Oshive	(0.312)	(0.434)	(1.851)
I nHbIncome	0.348	0.0397	-0.189
Lininicone	(0.210)	(0.231)	(0.770)
InHulncome * USA Positive	0.219)	0.0826	0.226
Liff fille OSA_1 Oslive	(0.247)	(0.244)	(0.623)
$\Delta dults - 2$	(0.247)	0.192	0.395
Adults -2	(0.263)	(0.265)	(0.835)
$\Delta dulta = 3$	0.000436	(0.203)	(0.855)
Adults – 5 +	(0.218)	(0.219)	(0.378)
Adults – 2 * USA Positive	0.218)	(0.213)	-0 195
Addits = 2 USA_I Usitive	(0.214)	(0.380)	(0.008)
Children	(0.378)	(0.380)	(0.990) 1 177
Children	(0.155)	(0.032)	(0.036)
OutsideDunedin	0.119	0.112	-1 /09
GuisideDuiculi	(0.642)	(0.645)	(2, 265)
FreeDance	(0.042)	0.298	0.600
Treckange		(0.258)	(0.423)
FreeRange * USA Positive		(0.204)	-0.105
Treckange USA_TOShive		(0.271)	(1.417)
Organic		(0.410)	(1.+17) 0.330
Organic		(0.262)	(0.738)
Organic * USA Positiva		(0.202)	(0.738)
Organic USA_rositive		(0.37)	(1.242)
DrinksFating		(0.334)	(1.2+2) 1 278**
DrinksLating		(0.272)	(0.503)
Drinks Fating * USA Desitive		(0.272) 0.850**	1 502
DIMASLAMING USA_I USMIVE		(0.381)	(1.372)
LocalOther		0.301)	0.840
		(0.2004)	(0 503)
LocalOther * USA Positive		-0.701**	_0.000)
		(0.318)	-0.909 (0.629)
		(0.510)	(0.020)

Appendix 6: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnWTPNZ for Chow Test

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Service			-0.281
			(0.337)
Service * USA_Positive			0.277
			(1.340)
Quality			-1.186*
			(0.600)
Quality * USA_Positive			1.954
			(1.669)
Fresh			-0.708
			(0.569)
Fresh * USA_Positive			0.810
T 1			(1.325)
Local			-1.688°
Logal * USA Desitive			(0.829)
Local * USA_Positive			1.723
Atmosphere			(1.022)
Autosphere			-0.516
Atmosphere * USA Dositive			(0.071)
Autosphere · USA_Fositive			(0.868)
Prices			(0.000)
Thees			(1 112)
Prices * USA Positive			0.867
			(1.272)
Time			(1.272) 0.0770
			(0.312)
Time * USA Positive			-1.434
			(1.134)
Weather			-0.202
			(0.351)
Weather * USA_Positive			-0.360
			(0.784)
Money			-0.124
			(0.437)
Constant	-0.617	2.576	7.497
	(2.280)	(2.484)	(8.897)
P-value of Chow test	0.0065***	0.0051***	0.3619
Observations	51	50	48
R-squared	0.682	0.825	0.952
Adjusted R-squared	0.5183	0.6428	0.622

Appendix 6 Continued: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnWTPNZ for Chow Test

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1Interactions between USA_Positive and Adults = 3+, Children, OutsideDunedin and Money deleted due to having fewer than five observations in each category

(1) (2) (3) VariablesDemographics+ Behaviours+ Attitudes1.interviewer 1.632^{**} 1.276^* 1.428^{**} (0.705) (0.706) (0.669) 2.interviewer 0.331 0.354 0.367 (0.658) (0.650) (0.610) 3.interviewer 0.542 0.546 0.943 (0.615) (0.666) (0.601) 4.interviewer 0.574 0.110 0.287 (0.672) (0.687) (0.633) 5.interviewer 0.749 0.459 0.672 (0.672) (0.684) (0.720) (0.716) 6.interviewer 0.833 0.659 0.685 (0.652) (0.654) (0.678) 7.interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.838) (0.832) (0.760) Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.441) (0.440) (0.442) Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.332) (0.334) (0.323) University -0.622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{**} 0.738^{**} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 3+ (0.220) (0.363) (0.457) (0.457) (0.438) -0.593 <th>Inter</th> <th>viewer fixed Ellects and H</th> <th>our</th> <th></th>	Inter	viewer fixed Ellects and H	our	
Variables Demographics \pm Behaviours \pm Attitudes 1.interviewer 1.632** 1.276* 1.428** (0.705) (0.706) (0.669) 2.interviewer 0.331 0.354 0.367 (0.658) (0.650) (0.610) 3.interviewer 0.542 0.546 0.943 (0.615) (0.668) (0.601) 4.300 4.interviewer 0.574 0.110 0.287 (0.672) (0.687) (0.633) 5.510 5.interviewer 0.749 0.459 0.672 (0.684) (0.720) (0.716) 6.161 6.interviewer 0.833 0.659 0.685 7.interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.838) (0.832) (0.760) Hour -0.278** -0.200 -0.302** (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 30 to 49 0.789* 0.749* 0.513 Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 0.03231 0.346) <th></th> <th>(1)</th> <th>(2)</th> <th>(3)</th>		(1)	(2)	(3)
1. interviewer1. 632^{**} 1. 276^* 1. 428^{**} (0.705)(0.706)(0.669)2. interviewer(0.658)(0.650)(0.610)3. interviewer(0.658)(0.650)(0.610)4. interviewer(0.615)(0.606)(0.601)4. interviewer(0.672)(0.687)(0.633)5. interviewer(0.672)(0.687)(0.633)5. interviewer(0.684)(0.720)(0.716)6. interviewer(0.833)0.6590.685(0.652)(0.654)(0.678)7. interviewer-0.880-0.845-0.575(0.838)(0.832)(0.760)Hour-0.278**-0.200-0.302**(0.115)(0.121)(0.138)Age = 30 to 49(789*0.749*0.513(0.444)(0.440)(0.442)(0.442)Age = 50+(0.332)(0.334)(0.323)University-0.0622-0.209-0.270(0.345)(0.346)(0.346)(0.346)LnHhlncome0.857***0.738***0.960***(0.241)(0.240)(0.248)(0.345)Adults = 2-0.117-0.161-0.310(0.359)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = 3+(0.260)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin-1.881***-1.700***-1.531***(0.565)(0.556)(0.555)FreeRange0.586-0.0227(0.359)(0.347)(0.347)(0.347)Organic </th <th>Variables</th> <th>Demographics</th> <th>+ Behaviours</th> <th>+ Attitudes</th>	Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
1.interviewer 1.632^{**} 1.276^* 1.428^{**} (0.705)2.interviewer 0.331 0.354 0.367 0.658 0.650 0.669 3.interviewer 0.542 0.546 0.943 0.615 0.606 0.600 0.601 4.interviewer 0.574 0.110 0.287 0.672 0.687 0.633 0.672 0.672 0.687 0.633 0.672 0.684 0.720 0.716 6.interviewer 0.833 0.659 0.685 0.652 0.654 0.678 0.672 0.684 0.720 0.716 6.interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.683) 0.832 (0.760) Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.441) (0.444) (0.440) (0.442) Age = 50+ (0.361) (0.341) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhlncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) (0.429) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ (0.280) 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.355)				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.interviewer	1.632**	1.276*	1.428**
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		(0.705)	(0.706)	(0.669)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2.interviewer	0.331	0.354	0.367
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		(0.658)	(0.650)	(0.610)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3.interviewer	0.542	0.546	0.943
4.interviewer 0.574 0.110 0.287 (0.672)(0.687)(0.633)5.interviewer 0.749 0.459 0.672 (0.684)(0.720)(0.716)6.interviewer 0.833 0.659 0.685 (0.652)(0.654)(0.678)7.interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.838)(0.832)(0.760)Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115)(0.121)(0.138)Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444)(0.440)(0.442)Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461)(0.451)(0.449)Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.332)(0.334)(0.323)University -0.6622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345)(0.346)(0.346)(0.346)(0.346)(0.346)LnHhIncome 0.857^{**} 0.738^{**} 0.960^{***} (0.241)(0.240)(0.248)(0.241)(0.240)(0.248)Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429)(0.420)(0.395)Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.556)(0.550)FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 </td <td></td> <td>(0.615)</td> <td>(0.606)</td> <td>(0.601)</td>		(0.615)	(0.606)	(0.601)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4.interviewer	0.574	0.110	0.287
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		(0.672)	(0.687)	(0.633)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	5.interviewer	0.749	0.459	0.672
6.interviewer 0.833 0.659 0.685 (0.652)(0.654)(0.678)7.interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.838)(0.832)(0.760)Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115)(0.121)(0.138)Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444)(0.440)(0.442)Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461)(0.451)(0.449)Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.332)(0.334)(0.323)University -0.6622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345)(0.346)(0.346)LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241)(0.240)(0.248)Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.457)(0.454)(0.410)(0.457)OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565)(0.556)(0.557)(0.347)Organic 0.349 (0.335) 0.341 Organic 0.349 (0.352)DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***}		(0.684)	(0.720)	(0.716)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	6.interviewer	0.833	0.659	0.685
7. interviewer -0.880 -0.845 -0.575 (0.838) (0.832) (0.760) Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444) (0.440) (0.442) Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461) (0.451) (0.449) Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.322) (0.332) (0.3334) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ (0.220) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) (0.355) <td< td=""><td></td><td>(0.652)</td><td>(0.654)</td><td>(0.678)</td></td<>		(0.652)	(0.654)	(0.678)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	7.interviewer	-0.880	-0.845	-0.575
Hour -0.278^{**} -0.200 -0.302^{**} (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444) (0.440) (0.442) Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461) (0.451) (0.449) Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.332) (0.334) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)		(0.838)	(0.832)	(0.760)
Age = 30 to 49 (0.115) (0.121) (0.138) Age = 50+ 1.038^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444) (0.440) (0.442) Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461) (0.451) (0.449) Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.32) (0.334) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	Hour	-0.278**	-0.200	-0.302**
Age = 30 to 49 0.789^* 0.749^* 0.513 (0.444)(0.440)(0.442)Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461)(0.451)(0.449)Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.32)(0.334)(0.323)University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345)(0.346)(0.346)LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241)(0.240)(0.248)Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429)(0.420)(0.395)Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565)(0.556)(0.550)FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359)(0.347)(0.341)Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341)(0.335) -0.570 DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***}		(0.115)	(0.121)	(0.138)
(0.444) (0.440) (0.442) Age = 50+ 1.038^{**} 0.892^* 0.00297 (0.461) (0.451) (0.449) Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 (0.32) (0.332) (0.334) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.335) (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	Age = 30 to 49	0.789*	0.749*	0.513
Age = $50+$ 1.038^{**} 0.892^{*} 0.00297 Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 University -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) (0.341) Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) -0.570 DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***}	0	(0.444)	(0.440)	(0.442)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Age = $50+$	1.038**	0.892*	0.00297
Male -0.0327 0.0875 0.0837 University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange $0.347)$ Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	C	(0.461)	(0.451)	(0.449)
(0.332) (0.334) (0.323) University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) (0.341) Organic 0.112 0.289 DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	Male	-0.0327	0.0875	0.0837
University -0.0622 -0.209 -0.270 (0.345)(0.346)(0.346)LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} (0.241)(0.240)(0.248)Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429)(0.420)(0.395)Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565)(0.556)(0.550)FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359)(0.347)(0.341)(0.335)DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349)(0.352)		(0.332)	(0.334)	(0.323)
(0.345) (0.346) (0.346) LnHhIncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} Adults = 2 -0.117 0.161 -0.310 Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.363 Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	University	-0.0622	-0.209	-0.270
LnHhlncome 0.857^{***} 0.738^{***} 0.960^{***} Adults = 2 -0.117 (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.359) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	5	(0.345)	(0.346)	(0.346)
Adults = 2 (0.241) (0.240) (0.248) Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 (0.379) (0.368) (0.363) Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) (0.341) Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	LnHhIncome	0.857***	0.738***	0.960***
Adults = 2 -0.117 -0.161 -0.310 Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 Adults = 3+ 0.0280 0.118 0.354 (0.429) (0.420) (0.395) Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457) (0.454) (0.410) OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565) (0.556) (0.550) FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)		(0.241)	(0.240)	(0.248)
Adults = $3+$ (0.379)(0.368)(0.363)Adults = $3+$ 0.02800.1180.354(0.429)(0.420)(0.395)Children-0.678-0.438-0.593(0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin-1.881***-1.700***-1.531***(0.565)(0.556)(0.550)FreeRange0.586-0.0227(0.359)(0.347)Organic0.1120.289(0.341)(0.335)DrinksEating-0.570-1.249***(0.349)(0.352)	Adults $= 2$	-0.117	-0.161	-0.310
Adults = $3+$ 0.02800.1180.354(0.429)(0.420)(0.395)Children-0.678-0.438-0.593(0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin-1.881***-1.700***-1.531***(0.565)(0.556)(0.550)FreeRange0.586-0.0227(0.359)(0.347)Organic0.1120.289(0.341)(0.335)DrinksEating-0.570-1.249***(0.349)(0.352)		(0.379)	(0.368)	(0.363)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Adults = $3+$	0.0280	0.118	0.354
Children -0.678 -0.438 -0.593 (0.457)(0.454)(0.410)OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} -1.700^{***} -1.531^{***} (0.565)(0.556)(0.550)FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359)(0.347)Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341)(0.335)DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349)(0.352)		(0.429)	(0.420)	(0.395)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Children	-0.678	-0.438	-0.593
OutsideDunedin -1.881^{***} (0.565) -1.700^{***} (0.556) -1.531^{***} (0.550)FreeRange 0.565 (0.556) (0.550) (0.347)Organic 0.112 (0.341) 0.289 (0.341)DrinksEating -0.570 (0.349) -1.249^{***} (0.352)		(0.457)	(0.454)	(0.410)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	OutsideDunedin	-1.881***	-1.700***	-1.531***
FreeRange 0.586 -0.0227 (0.359) (0.347) Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 $-1.249***$ (0.349) (0.352)		(0.565)	(0.556)	(0.550)
Organic (0.359) (0.347) Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341) (0.335) DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349) (0.352)	FreeRange	(/	0.586	-0.0227
Organic 0.112 0.289 (0.341)(0.335)DrinksEating -0.570 -1.249^{***} (0.349)(0.352)	0		(0.359)	(0.347)
0.112 0.209 (0.341) (0.335) -0.570 $-1.249***$ (0.349) (0.352)	Organic		0.112	0.289
DrinksEating $-0.570 -1.249^{***}$ (0.349) (0.352)	U ^{**}		(0.341)	(0.335)
(0.349) (0.352)	DrinksEating		-0.570	-1.249***
			(0.349)	(0.352)

Appendix 7: OLS Estimates of Three Emprical Models of LnAnnualSpend wi	ith		
Interviewer Fixed Effects and Hour			
	(1)	(2)	(3)
---	---------------------	--------------	-------------
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
LocalOther		0.378	0.303
		(0.340)	(0.332)
Service			0.148
			(0.375)
Quality			0.376
			(0.380)
Fresh			-0.276
			(0.349)
Local			0.141
			(0.381)
Atmosphere			-0.0774
			(0.383)
Prices			-1.145**
			(0.440)
Time			-0.842*
			(0.482)
Weather			0.0729
			(0.377)
Money			-0.415
			(0.510)
Constant	-1.024	-0.796	-0.836
	(2.420)	(2.419)	(2.414)
Interviewer Fixed Effects			
P-value for null of Demographic variables	0.0000***	0.0008***	0.0125**
P-value for null of Behavioural variables		0.0000.0	0.0000
jointly zero		0.0908*	0.0038***
P-value for null of Attitudes variables jointly			0.0308**
Zero D volve for pull of interviewer effects jointly			
zero	0.0713*	0.1965	0.0887*
Observations	86	86	76
R-squared	0.551	0.603	0.752
Adjusted R-Squared	0.4382	0.4724	0.5862

Appendix 7 Continued: OLS Estimates of Three Emprical Models of LnAnnualSpend with Interviewer Fixed Effects and Hour

Standard errors appear in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

	IOI CHOW ICSt		
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	<u>+ Attitudes</u>
Online	11.33	13.61*	14.86
	(7.714)	(7.614)	(24.02)
Age = 30 to 49	0.454	0.607	0.210
	(0.459)	(0.421)	(0.457)
Age = $50 +$	1.212***	1.033**	0.165
	(0.443)	(0.400)	(0.437)
Age = $50 + *$ Online	0.173	0.628	0.0362
	(1.048)	(1.151)	(1.415)
Male	-0.195	-0.225	-0.282
	(0.311)	(0.290)	(0.314)
University	0.218	-0.107	0.103
	(0.364)	(0.328)	(0.346)
University * Online	-0.522	0.566	2.544
	(1.322)	(1.229)	(1.637)
LnHhIncome	0.801***	0.699***	0.853***
	(0.229)	(0.208)	(0.234)
LnHhIncome * Online	-1.079	-1.366*	-1.748
	(0.757)	(0.732)	(2.300)
Adults $= 2$	-0.222	-0.0986	-0.104
	(0.386)	(0.342)	(0.364)
Adults $= 3$	0.164	0.274	0.493
	(0.412)	(0.371)	(0.390)
Adults = $2 * Online$	2.675**	2.400**	3.376
	(1.155)	(1.134)	(3.840)
Children	-0.429	-0.411	-0.659
	(0.449)	(0.408)	(0.436)
OutsideDunedin	-2.206***	-2.102***	-2.125***
	(0.513)	(0.459)	(0.500)
FreeRange		0.735**	0.272
		(0.302)	(0.333)
FreeRange * Online		-0.132	1.299
		(1.471)	(2.440)
Organic		0.0798	0.356
		(0.315)	(0.338)
DrinksEating		-0.523*	-0.890***
		(0.303)	(0.334)
LocalOther		0.270	0.208
		(0.319)	(0.334)
Service			0.453
			(0.387)

Appendix 8: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical Models of LnAnnualSpend for Chow Test

1	(1)	(2)	(3)
Variables	Demographics	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Quality			0.534
			(0.344)
Fresh			0.143
			(0.321)
Local			0.408
			(0.354)
Local * Online			-0.258
			(1.464)
Atmosphere			-0.129
			(0.359)
Prices			-0.663
			(0.407)
Time			-1.412***
			(0.425)
Weather			-0.557*
			(0.322)
Money			-0.265
			(0.542)
Constant	-2.680	-1.891	-2.745
	(2.219)	(2.016)	(2.253)
P-value of Chow Test	0.0944*	0.2093	0.2650
Observations	113	111	96
R-squared	0.437	0.554	0.649
Adjusted R-squared	0.3562	0.4611	0.4944

Appendix 8 Continued: OLS Estimates of Three Empirical	Models of
LnAnnualSpend for Chow Test	

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Interactions of Online with Age = 18 to 29, Male, Adults = 3, OutsideDunedin, DrinksEating, Quality, Fresh, Atmosphere, Prices, Time, Weather and Money deleted due to having fewer than five respondents in each category. Interactions of Online with Organic and LocalOther persist to be dropped due to collinearity

	(1)	(2)
Variables	+ Behaviours	+ Attitudes
Age = 30 to 49	1.069	0.811*
	(0.653)	(0.474)
Age = 50+	1.103*	0.405
	(0.631)	(0.496)
Male	0.176	0.324
	(0.492)	(0.343)
University	-0.0350	-0.132
	(0.416)	(0.327)
LnHhIncome	0.584*	0.747***
	(0.316)	(0.284)
Adults $= 2$	-0.141	-0.0973
	(0.390)	(0.348)
Adults = $3+$	0.352	0.634*
	(0.415)	(0.350)
Children	-0.275	-0.615
	(0.486)	(0.388)
OutsideDunedin	-1.683**	-1.411***
	(0.658)	(0.531)
FreeRange	0.901	0.581
	(1.194)	(0.966)
Organic	-0.262	0.0514
	(1.089)	(0.649)
DrinksEating	-1.905	-1.963**
	(1.496)	(0.998)
LocalOther	0.277	0.316
	(0.606)	(0.630)
Service		0.237
		(0.355)
Quality		0.637*
		(0.358)
Fresh		-0.283
		(0.328)
Local		0.519
		(0.361)
Atmosphere		0.220
		(0.413)
Prices		-0.669*
		(0.393)
Time		-1.391***
		(0.474)
Weather		0.0129
		(0.313)
Money		-0.315
		(0.596)
Constant	-0.444	-1.730
	(2.882)	(2.542)
Interviewer Fixed Effects	no	no
P-value for null of Demographic variables jointly zero	0 000/***	0.00/1***
D volue for null of Debauteure level the initial	0.0006***	0.0045***
r-value for null of Attitude social basis jointly zero	0.0256**	0.0045***
r-value for null of Attitudes variables jointly zero		0.0030***
Observations	95	75
Ubservations	85	15
K-squared	0.443	0.631

Appendix 9: 2SLS Estimation of Two Emprical Models of LnAnnualSpend

Standard errors appear in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

110a		
Variables	<u>WIPNZ</u>	Treatment (WTPChina > 0)
WTPChina	1 760***	
	(0.350)	
A = -20 = 10	(0.539)	2 542***
$Age = 50 \ 10 \ 49$	-2.557	-2.343
	(2.485)	(0.767)
Age = $50+$	-4.881*	-3.239***
	(2.593)	(0.953)
LnHhIncome	0.851	-0.880**
	(1.054)	(0.449)
Children	0.323	-1.807
	(2.414)	(1.165)
University	-2.776*	0.132
	(1.575)	(0.606)
Adults $= 2$	0.439	2.865***
	(1.983)	(0.969)
Adults = $3+$	-2.194	0.611
	(1.926)	(0.913)
OutsideDunedin	1.916	16.89
	(3.381)	(0)
DrinksEating	-0.928	0.913
	(1.591)	(0.669)
WTPChina > 0	-8.881***	
	(3.028)	
Constant	3.987	9.601**
	(10.85)	(4.507)
Observations	57	57

Appendix 10: Linear Regression of WTPNZ with Endogenous Binary Treatment Effect (WTPChina > 0)

Standard errors appear in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Wald test of independent equations returns a p-value of 0.5606, i.e. we cannot reject the null hypothesis of no correlation between the treatment errors and the outcome errors

This model only can only be estimated with a smaller set of variables than we would like to include such as the ones reported.